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Phase IT
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59 South Prospect Street
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7. Description

Condition . Check one Check one

___excellent ~ ____ deteriorated ___ unaltered _X_original site

_ X good . ___ruins _X_aitered X moved date _See below —
" fair * - ° ___unexposed

: AW
Desclrgibe tl‘ae‘g‘i:resent and original (if known) physical appearance

The Quinnipiac River Historic District is located in New Haven, Connecticut, a larsge
industrial city approximately one hundred miles northeast of New York City on Long Island
Sound. The district includes a large part of the former village of Fair Haven, a small
maritime community which grew up on both the east and west banks of the Quinnipiac River
in the late eighteenth century. Most of the buildings in the district were constructed
between 1780 and 1920. Although the Quinnipiac River Historic District is largely resi-
dential, it also contains representative examples of the early commercial buildings,
churches, and private schools as well as some of the buildings associated with the oyster-
ing industry which was the village's major focus from the 1780s until the turn of the
century. The major north-south streets in the district are Quinnipiac Avenue and Lenox
Street, on the east bank of the river, and North and South Front Streets, Perkins Street,
East Pearl Street, Clinton Avenue, Atwater Street, Houston and Ferry Streets, on the west
bank of the river. The major east-west streets are Chapel Street, Grand Avenue and its
extension East Grand Avenue on the east bank, and Pine Street. ‘

Architectural styles are represented in the district include Colonial, Federal, Greek
Revival, Italian Villa, Italianate, Second Empire, Queen Anne, High Victorian Gothic,
Gothic Revival, Romanesque, Colonial Revival and Jacobethan Révival. Physically the
district is grouped tightly on both sides of the river around the central point of the
Grand Avenue Bridge. The river is not only geographically the central feature of the
district, but it is the dominant feature because of the terrain of the district and the
orientation of the buildings (Photograph #s 2, 13, 32, 34.and 35). Almost every building
within the district is in sight of the water or directly fronting on it. A bridge has
been in existence on this site since the early 1790s and the bridge was largely respons-
sible for the development of Fair Haven as we know it today. Few structures in the
district are more than two blocks away from the river and some of the densest concentra-
tions of early and significant buildings in the district are located on or facing the
river bank (ie: North Front Street on the west bank and Quinnipiac Avenue on the east
bank). The district is geographically tied to other natural and man-made features
besides the river. On the east bank the sharp rise of Fair Haven Heights marks the

edge of the concentration of early settlement and the eastern boundary of the district.
On the northeastern corner the boundary of the district is defined by the railroad
tracks north of the junction with Hemingway Street. On the south, the district is
defined by industrial buildings and more recent residential construction on'the east
bank and the boundary of the Quinnipiac Brewery, already on the National Register, on
the west bank. The western and northwestern edges of the district are defined by a
combination of residences built after the district's period of greatest significance
(ie: post-1870s) and mid-twentieth century commercial and residential uses.

Within the extensive geographical confines of the district is a section of bottomland
at the mouth of Hemingway Creek which comprises the major undevleoped land in the
district. Another major open space in the district, the nicely landscaped. seven-acre
neighborhood cemetery, the Fair Haven Union Cemetery, is in the northwestern corner of
the district, bounded by Pine, Bridge and Atwater Streets and Grand Avenue. Tt is a
beautifully landscaped area, which like many cemeteries was developed in the late
nineteenth century inte a park-like environment, with handsome High Victorian Gothic
polychrome stone gates and a memorial chapel executed. in the same style in the center
of the cemetery. With the exception of the landscaped surroundings of thé schools and
churches along Grand (see continuation sheets)
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Avenue, the rest of the large open spaces in the district are the result of demolition.
These demolitions are particularly evident along South Front Street where a riverside
park and a new housing development are planned, and on the south side of Grand Avenue
and the north side of Exchange Street between South Front and East Pearl streets. This
vacant land mainly takes the form of waste ground rather than surface parking lots.

The district is a large one; it contains 567 buildings. Ninety-two percent of the
buildings in‘the district contribute to its historic and/or architectural significance.
The most common building material is wood, although brick is fairly widely used for
commercial and institutional structures. The district has a strong residential charac-
ter; however, the corridor formed by Grand Avenue/East Grand Avenue, the section of
Quinnipiac Avenue two blocks north and south of the bridge and the east side of North
Front Street are commercial sections. Other private and public uses, such as school and
‘church buildings, the public library and the neighborhood cemetery and fire station are
also located in these commercial sections. More than 50% of the buildings in the dist-
rict were constructed between 1780 and 1870, the period when Fair Haven achieved its
greatest significance. ’

The earliest house in the district dates c. 1765, and only a handful of buildings
in the district date before 1800. A good example of the type of house built in the
district in the late eighteenth century is the Levi Granniss House at 198 North Front
Street (Photograph #3).

Early nineteenth-century styles are well represented in the district; the Stephen
Rowe House and Tavern at 182-184 North Front Street (Photograph #1) and the Federal-style
King Block (Photograph #2) at 14 Grand Avenue exemplify early commercial buildings in
the district. The early nineteenth century saw the construction of numerous small,
plain, Post-Colonial houses. In Fair Haven these have little detailing which makes
them recognizable as representative of a particular architectural style. These one- or
two-story frame dwellings have gable roofs and are set either gable-end-to-street or
with the roof fidge parallel to the street. Most are built on raised basements. This
house type probably was the earliest and most common type of dwelling in Fair Haven,
and the form persists into the second half of the nineteenth century (Photograph # 1, 3,
4, 6, 8, 11, 13, 14, 17, 18, 19, 21, 29, 34). This form manifests itself despite the
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variety of nineteenth century architectural styles also exhibited in the district.

The Greek Revival style, the style popular when Fair Haven's prosperity reached a
pinnacle in the second quarter of the nineteenth century, is the dominant style in the
district. The two- or two-and-a-half story frame gable-end-to-street house set on a
raised stone or brick basement is the most common house type in the district (Photographs
#5, 7, 11, 13, 17, 18, 20, 21, 26). Other house types with Greek Revival details are
also in evidence in the district (Photographs # 1, 4, 8, 14), as well as commercial
buildings at 29 Grand Avenue (Photograph # 13), 280 North Front Street and the Long
Brick Store at 28-30 East Grand Avenue (Photograph # 34). The Second Congregational
Church at 65 East Grand Avenue (Photograph # 16) is the most monumental building of this
style in the district.

Italianate houses and Italian Villas are also numerous in the district (Photographs
#5, 6, 9, 18, 19, 20, 21, 36). There are a handful of Second Empire houses, but several
of these, like 37 East Pearl Street, are remodelled versions of earlier houses (Photo-
graph # 10). There are a number of Queen Anne houses within the district. Although
most of these are of the plainer gable-end-to-street type with Queen Anne details applied
to an otherwise simple house, there arevalso more substantial Queen Anne houses with
complex plans, asymmetrical massing, turrets, a variety of sheathings, extensive millwork
ornament and stained-glass windows.

Included in this group of more substantial Queen Anne house are 65 East Pearl
Street, 113 East Pearl Street (Photograph #12), 561 Quinnipiac Avenue (Photograph #19)
and 227 Lenox Street (Photograph #28). Representative of the more modest Queen Anne
houses in the district are 533-545 Quinnipiac Avenue (Photograph #29). A small Queen
Anne-style office was also built on the east bank of the Quinnipiac River and is present-
ly used by the oystering company at 610 Quinnipiac Avenue (Photograph #35).

Only three clear-cut examples of the High Victorian Gothic style exist in the dist-
rict: the East Pearl Street Methodist Church at (5 East Pearl Street (Photograph #25),
the Fair Haven Union Cemetery gates and the Soldiers Memorial Chapel in the cemetery.

A number of houses in the district have Victorian Gothic detailing. The chief of these
is the brick East Pearl Methodist Church parsonage at 100 East Pearl Street (Photograph

#6), but there are numerous more modest frame houses such as 55 and 61 Pierpont Street
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(Photograph #27), also built in this style in the district.

The sole Gothic Revival structure in the district is the St. James Episcopal Church
on East Grand Avenue (Photograph #15). The Grand Avenue Congregational Church, originally
designed to reflect classical ideals in 1853, was altered to the Romanesque style c. 1878.

AltHough commercial buildings form a small percentage of the district, there are
several good examples of mid-to-late nineteenth century commercial buildings in the dist-
rict. Among these are the Roland T. Warner Hardware Company (Photograph #22), the Todd-
Chidsey Store (Photograph #30), the former Fair Haven Post Office (Photograph #30), the
Bishop Building (Photograph #30) and the Henry Crawford Store (Photograph #30), all on
Grand Avenue.

The Colonial Revival was a popular style for the infill buildings constructed in the
district in the early twentieth century. One of the largest and most substantial build-
ings of this style is the Friendless Home on Clinton Avenue (Photograph #23). Many
Colonial Revival frame duplexes were built in Fair Haven between 1890 and 1930 (Photograph #33).
The Colonial Revival was also a popular style for commercial buildings in the
district; notably the Sol Kean Building at 85 Grand Avenue (Photograph #30) and Geppi's
Restaurant at 117 Grand Avenue (Photograph #30).

The Jacobethan Revival is well represented in the district by two school buildings
on Grand Avenue: the Horace Strong School at 69 Grand Avenue (Photograph #31) and the
Fair Haven Junior High School at 164 Grand Avenue, as well as the Atwater Training School

on Atwater Street.

Present Appearance

The present appearance of the district is largely a product of construction between
1830 and 1925. The greatest alteration of the appearance of the district was caused by
the demolitions along South Front Street, the south side of Grand Avenue between South
Front Street aﬁd East Pearl Street, and the north side of Exchange Street between South
Front Street and East Pearl Street. Only one house survives along South Front Street.

The major survival of the King Block (Photograph #2) on the southwest corner of Grand
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Avenue and South Front Street, is the only structure of historic or architectural signi-
ficance on the south side of the block. Several newer commercial structures along Grand
Avenue do not contribute to the district: Perrotti Farm Market at #70, Grand Apizza at
#111 (Photograph #30), Romeo's Imports at #121, the garage at #135 and the car dealership
at #141.

Because of the commercial character of the east side of North Front Street there are
several intrusive modern commercial buildings on a street that otherwise boasts some of
the district's oldest and most nearly intact buildings. Among these intrusions are #185,
#195, #201, #213, all small post-1929 commercial buildings. The earliest structures lie
between Grand Avenue and Pine Street on the west side of the street. The block between
Pine and Chatham streets has several early nineteenth-century houses, but there are also
Victorian houses and bungalows intermixed with the earlier residences.

Pierpont Street is a residential street with houses ranging in date from 1830 to
1930. Most date between 1840 and 1890, and no non=contributing buildings are located
on.the street.

Likewise, Ferry Street is a residential street with much the same character as
Pierpont Street except that several houées have storefront additions.

East Pearl Street, one of the most nearly intact streets in the district, is primar-
ily residential. The houses range in date from 1835 to 1915, and the only intrusive
structure is Pequot Plaza, a modern shopping center, at 130 East Pearl Street, near the
Jjunction of Grand Avenue.

Like Pierpont Street, Exchange Street, Houston Street and Lewis Street are all
residential streets which lack major intrusions. Exchange Street's houses date between
1840 and 1900 and Houston Street's between 1840 and 1905. Lewis Street, only one block
long, was developed somewhat later, and although the buildings date between 1870 and 1925,
most of the houses date from the 1870s. Pine Street, which forms part of the northern
boundary of the district, is also a residential street, and the houses range in date from
1820 to 1925. The oldest houses are mainly those nearest North Front Street, and the
north side of the street near the Jjunction of Maltby Street appears to have been developed

in the 1880s and 1890s, while bungalows and other early twentieth century houses are



NPS Form 10-800-a OMB No. 1024-0018
) Exp. 10-31-84

United States Department of the Interior
National Park Service

National Register of Historic Places
Inventory—Nomination Form

Quinnipiac River Historic District

ew Haven, Connecticut
&ntinuation’ sheet item number 7

located on the south side of the block. A pickle factory, built c. 1919 as a brewery, is
located on the north side of the étfeet. No major intrusions interrupt the streetscape.

Chambers Street, another residential street, with houses dating between 1830 and
1900, has only one intrusive building in the form of a 1940s brick apartment block at #79.

Clinton Avenue and Atwater Street, parallel streets located north of Grand Avenue,
are both residential streets which were developed at approximately the same time. Most
of the residences date between 1830 and 1922. One Federal house, the Chancelor and Lucy
Kingsbury House, is located on Clinton Avenue near the corner of Grand Avenue. Otherwise,
the character, materials, scale and style of the street are quite consistent, with the
exception of two minor intrusions: a modern garage set back from the street at #46, and a
modern apartmeﬂt complex at #56-70. Atwater Street's only intrusion is a modern duplex
at #52-54. The only nonresidential use is the Atwater Training School, originally built
as a teacher's training school, and now used as a senior citizen center.

On the east bank of the river there are fewer open spaces due to demolition. The
major losses have been confined to the commercial buildings on the south side of East
Grand Avenue near the bridge. The bridge itself was dismantled, but is now in the process
of being rebuilt on the original location and according to the same design as the turn-
of-the-century‘bridge. Quinnipiac Avenue, the major street oh this side of the river,
boasts more than seventy contributing buildings ranging in date from the early nineteenth
century to the 1920s, however a number of newer houses and commercial buildings are also
located on this street. Nine modern single-family houses and duplexes, a garage and a
gas sﬁation are the major intrusions. These intrusions are however scattered along the
entire length of the street, and not concentrated in any one area.

Like Quinnipiac Avenue, Lenox Street also contains numerous contributing buildings
dating between 1812 and the 1920s. All of these are residential, but like Quinnipiac
Avenue a certain amount of new construction is scattered along the street. There are
five post-World War II houses located within the five blocks which lie within the district
boundaries. v

Clifton Street is one of the major east-west streets on the east bank of the river.
Residences dominate the street, and these date between 1774 and 1910, and include one of
the oldest buildings in the district. A modern fish market at the western end of Clifton

Street near the river is the only major intrusion.
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Welcome, Aner and Oxford streets are all short east-west residential streets which
link Quinnipiac Avenue and Lenox Street. Welcome Street has no intrusive structures and
its houses date between 1842 and 1875, with the majority dating from the 1840s and 1850s.
Aner Street has only one house, and this is an intrusive modern residence. Oxford Street
has two houses dating from the 1850s, and one modern duplex.

Lexington Avenue's northern end, a one-block residential area, north of Clifton
Street, is included in the district. Three out of the four houses date between 1830 and
1860, with the remaining house being an intrusion.

Although only two blocks of East Grand Avenue are included in the district, it
boasts a number of the district's most significant buildings; St. James Episcopal Church,
the Second Congregational Church, the local fire station, the Long Brick Store and three
intact nineteenth-century houses. The major intrusions are the small modern commercial
buildings on the north side of the street near the bridge.

Some changes made in the district were simply a result of the evolution of the
neighborhood, and are not necessarily detrimental to the integrity of the buildings or
their contribution to the district. For example, early in the nineteenth century Rowe's
Tavern was moved from Grand Avenue to its present site on North Front Street. Some 1920s
bungalows were also moved to the northern section of North Front Street from an area
north of the district c¢. 1940, while in the 1910s several houses were moved from Grand
Avenue and the northern side of Exchange Street when the Fair Haven Junior High School
was built. Some early nineteenth-century houses, like 76 East Pearl Street, an Italianate
house, were remodelled in another architectural style quite soon after they were construct-
ed. Many early nineteenth-century houses received Victorian porches with sawn and turned
ornament. These alterations are generally well designed and well executed and add to
the character of the buildings.

Common alterations made to early houses in the district include the addition of
asbestos, aluminum or vinyl siding to frame structures and the removal of original porch-
es. Sometimes the original or even later porch additions are replaced in part by modern
wrought-iron supports and poured-concrete floors. Some of the Italianate houses have
lost their original towers. Commercial buildings have suffered more than the residences.
Modern plate-glass windows, storefronts and inappropriate sheathing materials have altered

the street-level facades of many of the commercial buildings.
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Original Appearance

Fair Haven in the early days of settlement was a small community of frame buildings
near the waterfront. The population boom in the early nineteenth century led to the
expansion of the area beyond the tight settlement on both river banks. Although most of
the buildings continued to be built of frame, some brick structures were also constructed.
The earliest available maps of Fair Haven date from the late 1850s and 1860s. The picture
that these maps create is that of a mixed-use community. On the west bank both sides of
South Front Street were developed, with keg factories located south of the present district
boundary. Oyster barns dotted the shoreline on the east side of North and South Front
streets. The Coates and Barnes Oyster Market was in operation near the Grand Avenue Bridge.
East Pearl Street, one of the chief residential streets in the district, had achieved a
density similar to that of today, while the east side of Houston Street, particularly on
the block south of Chambers, was less densely built. Likewise, Ferry Street included
more undeveloped lots than East Pearl Street. The north side of Pierpont Street, now an
enclave of late nineteenth- and early twentieth-century houses, was largely undeveloped.
Grand Avenue was largely residential and a Roman Catholic Church was located on Bright
Street near the cemetery. The railroad tracks bisected Atwater Street and Clinton Avenue.
In the case of Atwater Street, little development took place north of the tracks, while
Clinton Avenue had widely scattered houses in the same area. Above Grafton Street, only
the J.S. Farren House was standing. The lots on Pine Street between Clinton Avenue and
Maltby Street were subdivided, but undeveloped. The configuration of North Front Street
was much as it is today except for the east side of the street. A harness and livery
shop was located near the bridge and the rest of the east side of the street was dotted
with more oyster barns and the J.E. Bishop Fair Haven Oyster Depot. North of Pine Street
the east side of the street was undeveloped and only three houses were located on the west
side south of the Chatham Sﬁreet intersection.

On the east bank, commercial buildings flanked both sides of East Grand Avenue near
the bridge west of Quinnipiac Avenue. The railroad tracks crossed the river north of the

" Grand Avenue bridge and looped south, crossing Lenox Street two streets south of Grand

Avenue and travelling south between Lenox Street and Quinnipiac Avenue. The west side of
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Quinnipiac Avenue was densely built all the way from the south end of the district to,
but not including, the Hemingway Farm on the north end of the district. Oyster barns
were common on this side of the river also. A school was located on the east side of the
street at the site of the present Quinnipiac School. The Charles Ives estate was located
north of #90 Clifton Avenue, marking the historical as well as the physical boundary to
the district. Clifton and Lenox streets were among the most densely built residential
streets. The 1859 map shows an engine depot on the northeast cérner of Grand Avenue and
Lenox Street, a railroad adjunct which has vanished with the tracks.

Despite the two hundred-odd years that have passed since Fair Haven was settled, an
amazing number of buildings from the late eighteenth- anc nineteenth-century oyster
village have survived. Most of these are first generation buildings, that is to say,
they were the first structures built on a particular site. Even though a number of early
buildings were demolished along South Front Street, Exchange Street, Grand Avenue and
East Grand Avenue, the quantifty of remaining historic structures indicates that Fair

Haven is indeed an unusual and special resource.
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Key to Abbreviations

(@]
1]

contributing

=2
1

noncontributing

Organization of Building List

- all properties on a single street are organized under a heading with the street
name.

- information given in each entry

- contribution to district

- historic or common name of property, if known
- date

- description

- architect and/or builder, if known

- photograph view number
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Aner Street

N # 17: c. 1970. 1-story frame house. Gable end facing street; 2 bays wide by 5 bays
deep.
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Atwater Street

C # 12: Lincoln Flower Shop, 1894. 1-story frame Queen Anne-style commercial building;
gable end fronts on street; 1 bay wide by 2 bays deep.

C# 17-19: c. 1910. 2%-story Queen Anne/Colonial Revival frame house; gable end faces
street; 3 bays wide by 5 bays deep.

C # 25: Ellsworth House, c. 1855, 3z-story frame Italianate house set gable end facing
the street; 3 bays wide by 2 bays deep:with a side entrance.

C # 26: Atwater Training School, 1928. 2-story brick Jacobethan Revival teacher's
training school designed by Ferdinand Von Beren and built by M. Sola (mason)
and Charles Augur Company (carpenters).

c # 31: Rev. Burdett Hart House, c. 1855. 2%-story frame transitional Greek Revival/
Italianate house; gable end fronts on street; 3 bays wide by 4 bays deep.

C # 32: J. Russell House, c. 1850. 2-story brick Greek Revival house; hip roof; 4
bay facade with off-center entrance. 4 bays deep.

C # 39: Frank R. Burnham House, 1916. 1%-story frame bungalow built by Chidsey Bros.;
3 bays wide sheltered by a front porch and 2 bays deep.

C # 40: Horace L. Scranton House, c. 1848. 2-story frame Italianate house; shallow
hipped roof; 3 bays wide and 3 bays deep.

C # 45: J. Bristol House, c. 1855. 2%-story frame late Greek Revival house; gable
end faces street; 3 bays wide and 3 bays deep.
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C # 46: c. 1875. 2%-story frame Italianate house with center gabled pavilion and
flanking symmetrical side wings; 4 bays wide with a 3-sided canted bay in
a central position on the first floor.

C # 47: Mrs. Hyde House, c. 1855. 23-story frame late Greek Revival house; gable
end faces street; 3 bays wide and 4 bays deep.

N # 52-54: c. 1960. 1-story brick duplex; gable end to street; 3 bays wide and 4 bays
deep.

C # 49: Andrew Hull House, c. 1855. 2%-story frame Italianate house; gable end faces
street; 3 bays wide and 3 bays deep.

C # 56: c. 1870. 2%-story frame Italianate house; gable end faces street; 3 bays wide
by 2 bays deep.
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Chambers Street

C # 32: George Burwell House, c. 1838. 1i-story frame Greek Revival house; gable
end faces street; 3 bays wide by 2 bays deep.

C # 54: Edward Sanford House, 1875. 21-story frame Italianate house; gable end faces
street; 3 bays wide by 3 bays deep.

C # 55: c. 1900. 2%-story frame Queen Anne/Colonial Revival house; gable end faces
street; 3 bays wide by 7 bays deep.

C # 62: c. 1890. 23-story frame Victorian Gothic house; gable end faces street; 3
bays wide by 3 bays deep.

C # 65: Hosea N. Newton House, c. 1845. 2i-story frame Greek Revival house; 5 bays
wide by 2 bays deep.

C # 66: Richard Wilson House, 1845-46. 1i-story frame Greek Revival house; 3 bays
wide by 3 bays deep; gable end faces street.

N # 79: c. 1940. 3-story brick apartment block; flat roof; 2 bays wide by 3 bays
deep.

C # 81: Joshua D. Dill House, c. 1850. 23%-~story frame Greek Revival house; 3 bays
wide by 3 bays deep; gable end faces street.

C # 85: c. 1830. 2-story frame Federal/Greek Revival house; gable ends perpendicular
to street; 5 bays wide.
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Chapel Street

C# 29: c. 1855. 2-story frame Greek Revival house. 3 bays wide by 4 bays deep. L-
shaped plan (Photograph # 5).

C # 31: L. Conant House, c. 1848. 21-story frame Greek Revival house. 3 bays wide by
3 bays. Gable end faces street (Photograph # 5).

C # 33: c. 1845, 2-story frame Italianate house. Hip roof; 3 bays wide by 3 bays deep
(Photograph # 5).
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Clifton Street

C#2: c. 1910. 2-story frame plain Colonial Revival house. Gable end faces street;
3 bays wide by 2 bays deep.

N # 3: c. 1970. 1-story cinder block and brick commercial building.

C # 6: c. 1890. 2%-story frame plain Queen Anne house. Gable end faces street; 3
bays wide by 5 bays deep.

C# 7: c. 1890. 2-story frame plain Queen Anne house. Gable end faces street; 3
bays by 3 bays deep.

C # 12: Ezra Rowe House, c. 1774. 1i-story frame Colonial house. 5 bays wide.

C # 17: James R. Hunt House, c. 1835. 1i-story frame Greek Revival house. 2 bays wide
by 3 bays deep. Gable end faces street.

C ## 20: Ralph Warren House, 1836. 1i-story frame Greek Revival house. 2 bays wide by
3 bays deep. Gable end faces street.

C # 26: Between 1845 and 1857. 3-story frame Greek Revival house. Shallow hip roof;
5 bays wide by 4 bays deep.

C # 39: Augustus & Nancy Hale House, 1850. 13-story frame Greek Revival house. Gable
end faces street; 3 bays wide by 3 bays deep.

C # 52: Lester P. Mallory House, ca. 1880. 2%-story frame Queen Anne house. Intersect-
ing gable roof; 3 bays wide by 3 bays deep.
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C # 62: Daniel Connell House, 1852. 2i-story frame Greek Revival house. Gable end faces
street; 3 bays wide.

C # 84: Rowe-Wedmore House South, c. 1850. 21-story frame Greek Revival house. Gable
ends perpendicular to street; main entrance on east side of house. 4 bays wide
by 3 bays deep.

C # 90: Rowe-Wedmore House North, c. 1850. 23-story frame Greek Revival house. Gable
ends perpendicular to street; main entrance on east side of house. 4 bays wide
by 3 bays deep.
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Clinton Avenue

C # 10-14: Chancelor & Lucy Kingsbury House, 1816. 21-story frame Federal-style house.
3 bays wide with gable end facing street. Fanlight window in gable; original
~entrance. 3 bays deep.

C # 18:  Ambrose Clark House, 1834-35. 2}-story frame Greek Revival house. Gable end
faces street; 3 bays wide by 3 bays deep.

C # 24-26: C. 1910. Queen Anne/Colonial Revival frame 2}-story house; 2 bays wide by
4 bays deep; gable end faces street.

C # 29: Lucius & Jennie Rowe House, 1867. 2%i-story frame Gothic/Stick style house.
Gable roof with central cross-gable pavilion projecting from main block. 3
bays wide by 5 bays deep.

C # 32-34: c. 1922. 3-story masonry and frame apartment block; flat roof; 6 bays wide
facade punctuated by three 3-sided canted bays.

C # 35: John H. & Harriet Rowe House, 1851-2. 2i-story frame Greek Revival house.
Gable end faces street; 3 bays wide by 3 bays deep.

C # 38-40: John Wheaton House, 1834. 2%-story frame Greek Revival house. Gable end
faces street; 3 bays wide by 4 bays deep.

C# 41: Dennis & Maria Barnes House, 1850. 2-story frame Italian Villa. Shallow
hip roof; 3 bays wide and 2 bays deep.

N # 46: c. 1960. 1-story brick and stuccoed masonry garage building.
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C # 49: William S. Robinson House, 1885. 2L-story frame Queen Anne style house. Gable
end faces street; 3 bays wide and 3 bays deep.

C # 54: Charles C. & Mary D. Denison House, 1860. 2%-story frame Italianate house.
Gable end faces street;:3 bays wide and 4 bays deep.

N # 56-70: c. 1960. 2-story masonry and frame L-shaped apartment complex.

C # 57T: George B. Rowe House, c. 1853. 2-story frame Italian Villa; 3 bays wide and
3 bays deep; shallow hip roof.

C # 61: Lucius Blakeslee House, 1850-51. 3-story frame Italian Villa house. 3 bays
wide and 3 bays deep; shallow hip roof.

C # 67T: c. 1875. i-story frame Italianate house. 3 bays wide; gable end faces street.

C# T7T1-73, 75-T77 & 79-81: 1922. 2%-story frame late Queen Anne/Colonial Revival style
duplexes; 3 bays wide by U4 bays deep; gable ends face street (Photograph # 33).

C# 72: 1880s-1890s. 2%i-story frame Victorian house. Gable end faces street; 2 bays
wide by 3 bays deep.

C # T4-76: c. 1910. 2i-story frame Colonial Revival house. Gable end faces street;
2 bays wide by 4 deep.
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C # 80-82: Philip & Ellen Hussey House, 1910. 2l-story frame Colonial Revival house
6 bays wide with central pedimented dormer; high hip roof (Photograph # 24).

C # 83: 1880s. 2%-story frame Second Empire house. Mansard roof; 3 bays wide by 6
bays deep.

C # 85-87, 89-91, 93-95: c. 1920. 2}-story frame Queen Anne/Colonial Revival duplexes.
3 bays wide by 4 bays deep; gable end faces street.

C # 97: Henry & Hannah Woodruff House, 1854. 2}-story frame Italian Villa. 3 bays
wide; hip roof which was raised to a high hip in the early 20th century
(Photograph # 33).

C # 98: 1881-82. 2%-story frame Victorian Gothic house. 3 bays wide; gable end
faces street; vernacular sawnwork ornament used in gable peak and in porch
design (Photograph # 24).

C # 102: Elihu & Charlotte Watrous House, 1878. 1i-story frame Victorian Gothic house.
L-shaped plan with projecting cross gable wing fronting on street; 4 bays
wide by 3 bays deep (Photograph # 24).

C # 103: William H. & Catherine Swan House, 1835. 1i-story frame Greek Revival house.
2 bays wide by 2 bays deep; gable ends perpendicular to street (Photograph # 14).

C # 106: Henry Alexander & Lydia Stevens House, 1878-79. 2-story frame Italianate
house. L=-shaped plan with a gable roof. A 3-sided canted bay is located in
the part of the L that projects toward the street; 3 bays wide (Photograph # 24).
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C # 109-111: Benjamin Gladding House, 1849. 2l-story frame Greek Revival house; gable
end is perpendicular to street; 5 bays wide and 3 bays deep.

C # 118: Frieéendless Home, 1898. 3%-story brick Colonial Revival intitutional building;
hipped roof; 11 bays wide by 11 bays deep (Photograph # 23).

C # 119: Volney & Charlotte Pierce House, 1851. 2-story frame Italianate house; hip
' roof; 2 bays wide and 2 bays deep.

C # 127: David R. Page House, 1855. 2Z-story frame Italianate house; gable end faces
street; 3 bays wide and 3 bays deep.

C # 138: Alden & Betsey A. Smith House, c. 1848. 2l-story frame Greek Revival house;
2 bays wide and 2 bays deep; gable end faces street.

C # 146: James Johnson House, 1867. 2%-story frame Greek Revival house; 3 bays wide;
gable end faces street.

C # 150: James Donlan House, c. 1845. 1l-story frame Greek Revival school house now
converted to a dwelling. 3 bays wide; gable end faces street.

C # 154-156: c. 1920. 2}-story frame Colonial Revival duplex; gable end faces street;
2 bays wide by 4 bays deep.

C # 164: George E. Maltby House, c. 1835. 2%-story frame Greek Revival house; 3 bays
wide; gable end faces street.
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East Grand Avenue

N #

2=4:

12:

14-16:

20:

28-30:

38

c. 1930. 1-story masonry commercial building.

c. 1940, T-story masonry garage.

c. 1940. 1-story brick commercial building.

c. 1880. 1-story frame commercial building. Flat roof and 2 storefronts.

Long Brick Store, c. 1829. 2%i-story brick Greek Revival commercial building.
Gable end faces street; 4 bays wide by 3 bays deep.

Grand Spa, c. 1940. 1-story brick commercial building with corner entrance.

St. James Episcopal Church, 1844, 21l-story Gothic Revival stone church.
3 bays wide by U4 bays deep. Square projecting bell tower over central entrance
and modern Sunday School wing made out of similar materials.

Daniel Foote House, between 1836 and 1845. 2-story frame Greek Revival house
remodelled in the Italianate style c. 1856. Hip roof; 3 bays wide by 3 bays
deep.

Oscar and Nellie Keeney House, c. 1875. 2%-story frame Italianate house.
Gable end faces street; 3 bays wide.
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C # 65: Second Congregational Church (Pilgrim Church), 1851. 2%-story brick Greek
Revival church. 3 bay facade; gable end faces street. Pedimented portico has
a modillion cornice and a gable tympanum embellished with scroll detailing
and is supported by 6 fluted Ionic columns.

C # 73: 1927. 1%-story Colonial Revival brick fire station. Gambrel roof facing
street with a palladium window. Designed by Brown and Von Beren. 2 bays wide
by 5 bays deep.

C # 83: c. 1870. 1Italianate frame 2%-story house. Gable end faces street, 3 bays
wide. Modern apartment block on the same lot.
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East Pearl Street

C # 24-26: c. 1910. I-story frame Queen Anne/Colonial Revival duplex. Gabled pavilion
faces street; U4 bays wide by 4 bays deep.

C # 28-30: <c. 1905. 2%-story frame Queen Anne/Colonial Revival house. Gable roof with
projecting gabled pavilion fronting on the street. U4 bays wide by 5 bays deep.

C # 32-34: c. 1910. 2%1-story frame Colonial Revival duplex. Gable end faces street;
3 bays wide by 4 bays deep.

C # 37: Samuel Hemingway House, c. 1852. 2l-story stuccoed masonry Italian Villa which
was converted to the Second Empire style c. 1870. 3 bays wide by 3 bays deep
(Photograph # 10).

C # 42: Willis S. Barnes House, c. 1846. 2-story frame Italian Villa. Vertical flush
board siding. 3 bays wide by 3 bays deep.

C # 43: John B. Ludington House, c. 1875. 2}-story frame Victorian Gothic house. Gable
roof with projecting gabled pavilion fronting on the street. 3 bays wide by
2 bays deep.

C # 44: Lucius S. Ludington House, 1857-76. 2i-story frame Ttalianate house. Gable
roof with projecting gabled pavilion fronting on the street. 3 bays wide by 2
bays deep.

C # 48: Alfred Thomas, c. 1865. 2l-story frame Italianate house. Cruciform plan. Gable
end facing street. 3 bays wide by 3 bays deep.

C # 51-3: c. 1915. Queen Anne/Colonial Revival frame house. Gable end faces street; 3
bays wide.
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C # 54: Jairus T. Sanford House, 1844-45, 2J-story frame Greek Revival house. Gable end
faces street. 3 bays wide by 3 bays deep.

C # 55: David C. Burwell House, 1875. 2%-story frame Italianate house. L-shaped plan.
Gable end faces street. 3 bays wide by 2 bays deep.

C # 57: Alva Barnes House, c. 1848. 2-story frame Italianate/Greek Revival house.
Shallow hip roof; 2 bays wide by 5 bays deep.

C # 58: Ai Russell House, c. 1836. 2%-story frame Greek Revival house. Gable faces
street; 3 bays wide by 3 bays deep.

C # 59: Dan & Julia Smith, c. 1855. 2%-story frame Italianate house. Gable faces street;
3 bays wide by U4 bays deep.

C # 60: Lewis Rowe House, 1837-38. J-story frame Greek Revival houes. Gable faces
street; 3 bays wide by 3 bays deep.

C # 62: Abijah Munson House, 1843. 23-story frame Greek Revival house. Gable faces
street; 3 bays wide by 3 bays deep.

C # 65: Ernest & Eva E. Crawford House, 1892-93. 2%-story frame Queen Anne style house.
Cruciform plan; gabled pavilion faces street. Extensive turned and sawn orna-
ment. 3 bays wide by 4 bays deep.

C # 68: Henry & Samuel Linsley House, 1835. 2i-story frame Greek Revival house. Gable
faces street; 3 bays wide by 3 bays deep.
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C #

69:

T0:

T2

73:

76:

77

81:

80:

82:

Alfred B. Goodsell House, c. 1855. 23-story frame Italianate house. L-shaped
plan; gabled pavilion faces street. 3 bays wide by 3 bays deep.

c. 1880,

23-story frame Victorian Gothic house. Gable end faces street; 3

bays wide by 2 bays deep.

Chauncey & Hannah Barnes House, 1839-40. 21-story frame Greek Revival house.
Gable end faces street; 3 bays wide by 3 bays deep.

Edwin Barnes House, c. 1845. 2}-story frame Greek Revival house. Gable end
faces street; 3 bays wide by 2 bays deep.

Elijah S. & Jane Ball House, c. 1852. 23i-story frame Italian Villa altered in
the 1880s to the Victorian Gothic style. Both pitched and hipped roofs; 3
bays wide by 4 bays deep.

c. 1830.

21-story Federal/Greek Revival frame house. 3 bays wide by 3 bays

deep. Gable end faces street.

Anne L. Rowe House, 1843. 1l-story frame Greek Revival house built by Elbert
J. Munsell. Gable end faces street; 3 bays wide by 2 bays deep.

c. 1910.

23-story frame Colonial Revival house. Gable end faces street. 2

bays wide by 5 bays deep.

c. 1910.
street.

2%-story frame Colonial Revival house. Gable end perpendicular to
3 bays wide by 3 bays deep with central cross gable.
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C # 85: Zebulon F. & Harriet Rowe House, 1870. 21-story frame Italianate house. Gable
end faces street; 3 bays wide by 3 bays deep.

C # 87: Henry W. Broughton House, 1847. 2l-story frame Italianate house. Gable end
faces street; 3 bays wide by 3 bays deep.

C # 88: Jesse & Julia Ludington House, 1850. 2%i-story Italian Villa altered to the
Second Empire style in the 1870s. Mansard roof; 3 bays wide by 3 bays deep.

C # 92: Robert Hitchcock House, c. 1839. 2-story brick Greek Revival townhouse.
Shallow hip roof; 3 bays wide by 3 bays deep.

C # 95: East Pearl Street Methodist Episcopal Church, 1871-73. High Victorian Gothic
brick church with ceramic tiles and wooden details. Designed by John S. Welch
of New York. Square tower with a steeple on the northwest corner (Photograph # 25).

C # 100: Methodist Episcopal Church Parsonage, 1883-84. 2i-story brick Victorian Gothic
house. Hip roof with projecting gabled pavilions. 3 bays wide by 5 bays deep.

C # 102: Ebenezer Lane House, 1875-1876. 2%-story frame Italianate house. Gable end
faces street; 3 bays wide by 3 bays deep.

C # 105: Horace S. Barnes house, 1836. 2}-story frame Greek Revival house. Gable end
faces street; 3 bays wide by 3 bays deep.

C # 108: Dennis & Henrietta F. Barnes House, 1838. 2i-story frame Greek Revival house.
Gable end faces street; 3 bays wide by 3 bays deep (Photograph # 7).
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C # 109: Jacob P. Augur House, 1836. 2%i-story frame Greek Revival house. Gable end faces
street; 3 bays wide by 3 bays deep.

C # 112: Harvey Barnes House, 1838. 2%-story frame Greek Revival house. Gable end faces
street; 3 bays wide by 3 bays deep.

C # 113: Benjamin E. Stannard House, c. 1880. 2}-story frame Queen Anne house. L-shaped
plan with gabled pavilion fronting on the street. 3 bays wide by 2 bays deep.
A 2-story frame Greek Revival carriage shed stands at the rear of the property
(Photograph # 12). »

C # 116: Frank M. Crawford House, 1892-93. 23i-story frame Queen Anne/Colonial Revival
house. Gambrel roof with 2 3-story polygonal corner towers. U4 bays wide by 2
bays deep.

N # 130: Pequot Plaza, c. 1970. 1-story brick shopping plaza with 5 storefronts.
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Exchange Street

C # 36: Willis Barnes House, c. 1840. 2i-story frame Greek Revival house. Gable end
parallel to street; 3 bays wide by 3 bays deep.

C # 40: c. 1880. 2%-story frame Italianate house. Gable end faces street; 3 bays
wide by 3 bays deep. 2%-story frame gable roof carriage house, possibly early
19th century, at rear overlooking river.

C # 46: William B. Granniss House, 1880-1881. 23-story frame Italianate house. L-
shape plan; gabled pavilion fronts on street. 3 bays wide by 3 bays deep.

C # 50: Marshall S. Bunnell House, c. 1855. 2%-story frame Italianate house. Gable
end faces street; 3 bays wide by 3 bays deep.

C # 58: Isaac P. & Nancy Palmer House, 1845. 13-story Greek Revival house. Gable
end faces street; 3 bays wide by 2 bays deep.

C # 75: Samuel L. Potter House, 1869. 2-story frame Italianate house. Gable end
faces street; 2 bays wide by 2 bays deep.

C # 76: Mary Sherwood and Miriam Hemingway House, 1887-1888. 2%1-story frame Victor-
ian Gothic house. Gable end faces street; 3 bays wide by 3 bays deep.

C# 79: c. 1855. 2%i-story frame Victorian Gothic house. Gable end faces street; 3
bays wide by 4 bays deep.

C # 80: c. 1870. 2i-story frame Italianate house. Gable end faces street; 3 bays
wide.
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C # 81: c. 1890. 2%-story frame Victorian Gothic house. Gable end faces street; 3
bays wide.

C # 83: William E. Monsell House, c. 1860. Z-story frame transitional Greek Revival-~
Ttalianate house. Gable end faces street; 3 bays wide by 3 bays deep.

C # 84: c. 1840. 13-story frame Greek Revival house. Gable end faces street; 3 bays

wide.
C # 86: c. 1870. 2-story frame Italianate house. Gable end faces street; 2 bays wide.
C # 89: c. 1870. 2i-story frame Italianate house. Gable end faces street; 3 bays wide.
C # 90: c. 1870. 2i-story frame Italianate house. Gable end faces street; 3 bays wide.

C# 91: Stiles and Mary Beach House, 1871~1872. 2%-story frame Queen Anne house. Gable
end faces street; 3 bays wide by 3 bays deep.

C # 94: David Gould House, 1847-1848. 1i-story frame Greek Revival house. Gable end
faces street; 3 bays wide by 3 bays deep.

C # 100: 1860-1861. 2%-story frame late Greek Revival house. Gable end faces street;
3 bays wide by 2 bays deep.

C # 102-104: c. 1895. I-story frame Queen Anne house. Gable end faces street; 2 bays
wide by U4 bays deep. 2~-story rectangular bay with mock-half-timbering dominates
facade.
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C # 106: Elbert J. Munsell House, 1850~51. 2-story frame Italian Villa. Shallow hip
roof; 3 bays wide by 3 bays deep.

C # 114: ¢c. 1900. 2%-story frame Colonial Revival house. Gable end faces street;
3 bays wide.

C # 120: Samuel Harrison House, c. 1848, 21l-story frame Greek Revival house. Gable
end faces street; 3 bays wide by 3 bays deep.

C # 124: c. 1890. 2l-story frame Queen Anne house. Gable end faces street; U bays
wide.

C # 130: Mary Seeley House, 1850-51. 23-story frame Greek Revival house. Gable end
faces street; 3 bays wide by 3 bays deep.

C # 133: c. 1890. 2%-story frame Victorian Gothic house. Gable end faces street;
3 bays wide.

C # 134: J. Evelyn Pierpont House, 1853-54. 2-story Italianate house. Shallow hip
roof; 3 bays wide by 3 bays deep.

C # 137: c. 1850. 23-story frame Carpenter Gothic house. Gable end faces street;
3 bays wide.

C # 140: c. 1840, 2%1-story frame Greek Revival house. Gable end faces street; 3 bays
wide.
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C # 144 Former East Pearl Street Methodist Church Parsonage, 1850-51. 21-story frame
Greek Revival house. Gable end faces street; 3 bays wide by 3 bays deep.

C # 148: Isaac Woodford House, c. 1860. l-story frame Greek Revival house. Gable end
faces street; 3 bays wide by 4 bays deep.

C # 152: Sally & Cabb Wilson House, c. 1848. 1i-story frame Greek Revival house. Gable
end faces the street; 3 bays wide by 5 bays deep.
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Ferry Street

C#

187: c. 1875. 2%-story frame transitional Greek Revival/Italianate house. Gable end
faces street; 3 bays wide by 3 bays deep.

189: c¢. 1875. 2%-story frame transitional Greek Revival/Italianate house. Gable end
faces street; 3 bays wide by 3 bays deep.

191-3: c. 1900. 2}-story frame Queen Anne/Colonial Revival duplex. Gable end faces
street; 2 bays wide (Photograph # 11).

195: ¢. 1840. 1i-story frame Greek Revival house. Gable end faces street. Obscured
by 2-story brick early 20th century storefront addition (Photograph # 11).

201: Sidney & Louise Clark House, c. 1878. 2%-story frame Italianate house. Gable
end faces street; 3 bays wide by 3 bays deep.

205: Lucius Hine House, 1852. 23i-story frame Greek Revival house. Gable end faces
street; 3 bays wide by 2 bays deep.

213: c. 1850. 2}-story frame Greek Revival house. Gable end faces street. Obscured
by 3-story brick storefront c. 1920 (Photograph # 11).

217: c. 1870. 2%i-story frame transitional Greek Revival/Italianate house. Gable end
faces street; 3 bays wide by 4 bays deep.

223: Captain Emmet & Reumah Pedrick House, c. 1855. 3-story frame Greek Revival
house. Gable end faces street; 3 bays wide by 2 bays deep (Photograph # 11).
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C # 227: c. 1915. 1=-story brick Colonial Revival commercial building. Corner entrance,
flat roof, one storefront (Photograph # 11).

C # 233-5: c. 1910. 3-story frame Colonial Revival apartment block. Flat roof; 3 bays
wide by 9 bays deep (Photograph # 11).

C # 241: c. 1910. 3-~story frame Colonial Revival apartment block with storefront on
first floor. Flat roof; 3 bays wide by 4 bays deep.

C # 245: c. 1910: 3-~story frame Colonial Revival apartment block. 3 bays wide by 5
bays deep; flat roof.

C # 247-49: c. 1850. 2%-story frame house/shop combination. Gable end faces street;
2 bays wide by 3 bays deep. 1-story frame storefront addition on front.

C # 253-5: c. 1849, 2l-story frame house/shop combination. Gable ends perpendicular
to street; 3 bays wide by 2 bays deep. 1-story storefront addition.
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Grand Avenue

C Grand Avenue Swing Bridge, 1896. Iron and steel swing bridge built by Berlin
Iron Bridge Company. H.C. Keith and C.W. Kelly were the design engineers.
Piers and abutments ashlar block. 55-foot deck girder spans flank the 205-
foot swing span. The swing span is borne by a Pratt-like pin-connected through-
truss with an inclined top-chord, the operator's house is suspended above the
roadway in the center of the span (Photograph #37).

C # 3-7: Roland T. Warner Company, c. 1885. 21-story frame Italianate commercial build-
ing. Shallow hip roof; 8 bays wide by 4 bays deep (Photograph # 22).

C # 14: Kings Block & Hotel, c. 1820. 2%-story brick Federal commercial block. Gable
end faces street; 5 bays wide by 4 bays deep (Photograph # 2).

C # 29: James Broughton's Tin Shop, c. 1845. 2Z-story frame Greek Revival house/shop
combination. Gable end faces street; 3 bays wide by 5 bays deep (Photograph
# 13).

C # 33: James Broughton House, c. 1846. 2-story frame transitional Greek Revival/
Italianate house. Shallow hip roof; 3 bays wide by 3 bays deep (Photograph
# 13).

C # 37=39: 1833-34., 23-story frame Greek Revival duplex. Gable end is perpendicular to
street; 6 bays wide by 3 bays deep (Photograph # 13).

C # 57: c. 1920. 3=-story blond brick Mission style apartment block with two store-
fronts. 6 bays wide by 8 bays deep. Flat roof (Photograph # 13)}.



NPS Form 10-900-a Grand Avenue (continuedlyyg yo 1024-0018
G82) Exp. 10-31-84

United States Department of the Interior
National Park Service

National Register of Historic Places
Inventorvg—Nommatlon Form

Quinnipiac River Historic District

ew Haven, Connecticut
ntinuation’sheet Item number 7 Page 35

C # 69: Horace H. Strong School, 1916. 3-story brick Jacobethan Revival school building,
designed by Brown and Von Beren. 7 bays wide by 4 bays deep (Photograph # 31).

N # 70: Perrotti Farm Market, 1979. 1-story brick Post-Modern commercial building.

C# T7: Former Fair Haven Post Office, Station A, 1897-98. 1l-story frame Queen Anne
post office building. Large arched windows with a tripartite sash still extant
on side elevations. Front facade replaced with an open storefront (Photograph
# 30).

C # 85: Sol Kean Building, 1922. 3-story brick Colonial Revival apartment block with
two storefronts on the first floor. 3 bays wide by 5 bays deep (Photograph
# 30).

C # 87-89: Todd and Chidsey Store, c. 1865. i-story frame Italianate commercial build-
ing. Shallow hip roof; 5 bays wide and 4 bays deep; brick storefront addition
(Photograph # 30).

C # 93-99: Bishop Building, c. 1890. 3-story brick Victorian apartment block with 2
modern brick storefronts on first floor. 4 bays wide (Photograph # 30).

Ql
==

101-105: Henry W. Crawford Store, c. 1865. 3i-story frame Second Empire commercial
block with 2 storefronts on first floor. Mansard roof; U4 bays wide. Store-
fronts altered (Photograph # 30).

N.# 111: Grand Apizza, 1950. 1-story masonry commercial building (Photograph # 30).

C # 117: Geppi's Restaurant, c. 1925. 3-story brick Colonial Revival apartment block
with 3 storefronts (Photograph # 30).
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N # 121: Romeo's Imports, 1960. 1-story cinder block commercial building.

C # 126: Leila & William W. Post House, 1879. 2%-story frame Victorian Gothic house.
Hipped roof with gable-roof pavilions; 5 bays wide and 7 bays deep.

C # 132: Harry V. Santry House, c. 1910. 2%i-story frame Colonial Revival house. High
hip roof with gabled dormers; 3 bays wide and 7 bays wide.

N # 135: c. 1938. 1-story brick garage.

N # 141: c. 1938. 1-story brick car dealership. Used to be a Hudson dealership.

N # 145: c. 1938. 2-story frame Colonial Revival house. Hipped roof; central hipped
dormer. 2 bays wide by 3 bays deep.

C # 149: Fair Haven Union Cemetery Association, 1808-1982. T-acre cemetery. First burial
1808. Many early and significant gravestones of prominent Fair Haven citizens.
High Victorian Gothic cemetery gates built 1885 and matching Soldiers Memorial
Chapel built c. 1895 with Tiffany windows. Chapel designed by David Bloomfield
of Meriden.

C # 155: Grand Avenue Congregational Church, 1853; remodelled 1878. Neoclassical-
Ttalianate brick church designed by Volney Pierce. Remodelled in 1878 in
the Romanesque style. Gable end faces street; 6 bays wide. A square 3-story
tower is located on the southeast corner and a large rose window dominates

the gable.

C.# 164: Fair Haven Junior High School, 1927-28. 3-story brick Jacobethan Revival
school designed by Brown and Von Beren. Flat roof; 5 bays wide. Central
square crenellated clock tower.
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C # 169% Lyman Woodward House, 1851-521 2-story frame Italian Villa. Shallow hip roof;
5 bays wide by 2 bays deep.

C # 182: Fair Haven Branch Free Public Library, 1916. 1-story brick Colonial Revival
library building. 3 bays wide. Flat roof.
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Houston Street

C # 32: c. 1870. 2%-story frame Italianate house. Gable end faces street; 3 bays wide

by 2 bays deep.

C # 34: c. 1870. 2%-story frame Italianate house. Gable end faces street; 3 bays wide

by 2 bays deep.

\

C # 35: 1890. 2%-story frame Queen Anne house. Gable end faces street; 3 bays wide by

3 bays deep.

C # 37: c. 1890. 23-story frame Queen Anne/Colonial Revival house. Gable end faces

street; 3 bays wide by 5 bays deep.

C # 38: c. 1870. 23-story frame Italianate house. Gable end faces street; 3 bays
wide.
C # 41: c. 1890. 2%-story frame Queen Anne/Colonial Revival house. Gable end faces

street; 3 bays wide.

C # U2: c. 1861-62. 2-story frame Greek Revival/Ttalianate house. Gable end faces

street; 3 bays wide by 2 bays deep.

C # u43: 1870. 2-story frame Italianate house. Gable end faces street;
3 bays deep. Identical to # L5.

C # 45: 1870. 2-story frame Italianate house. Gable end faces street;
by 3 bays deep. Identical to # 43.

3 bays wide by

3 bays wide

C # 46: c. 1848, 2%1-story frame Greek Revival. Gable end faces street; 3 bays wide

by 3 bays deep.
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C # u7: 1869-70. 2%-story frame Victorian Gothic/Italianate house. Gable end faces
street; 3 bays wide by 2 bays deep.

C # 48: c. 1865. 2-story frame Italianate house. Gable end faces street; 2 bays wide
by 3 bays deep.

C # 49-51: 1905-1906. 3~story frame Victorian Gothic duplex. Gable end faces street;
3 bays wide by 3 bays deep. Identical to # 53-55 & 57-59.

C # 50: 1866-1867. 21-story frame transitional Greek Revival/Italianate house. Gable
end perpendicular to street; 5 bays wide by 2 bays deep.

C # 53-55: 1905-06. 2i-story frame Victorian Gothic duplex. Gable end faces street;
3 bays wide by 3 bays deep. Identical to # 49-51 and # 57-59.

C # 54-56: c. 1900. 2i-story frame Colonial Revival duplex. Gable end faces street;
2 bays wide by 4 bays deep.

C # 57-59: 1905-06. 2%-story frame Victorian Gothic duplex. Gable end faces street;
3 bays wide by 3 bays deep. Identical to # 49-51 and # 53-55.

C # 58: John C. Hervey House, c. 1870. 2i-~story brick Second Empire House. Mansard
roof; 3 bays wide by 3 bays deep.

C # 64: Henry B. Goodale House, 1849-50. 2l-story frame Greek Revival house. Gable
end faces street; 3 bays wide by 3 bays deep. Cinder block commercial building
at rear.
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C # 6T: c. 1865. 2i-story frame Italianate house. Gable end faces street; 3 bays wide
by 2 bays deep (Photograph # 26).

C # 69: William & Martha C. Thomas House, 1846-47. 2i-story frame Greek Revival house.
Gable end faces street; 3 bays wide by 2 bays deep (Photograph # 26).

C # T0: Zadoc R. & Sarah Morse House, 1847-48. 2%i-story frame Greek Revival house.
Gable end faces street; 3 bays wide by 2 bays deep.

C# 71: Captain Albert Thomas House, c. 1848. 2%-story frame Greek Revival house.
Gable end faces street; 3 bays wide by 2 bays deep (Photograph # 26).

C# 72: c. 1910. 2%i-story frame Colonial Revival house. Gable end faces street;
3 bays wide by 4 bays deep.

C # Th: William N. Gesner House, 1848. 2-story frame Italian Villa. Shallow hipped
roof; 3 bays wide by 3 bays deep.

C # 75: Captain Alfred Thomas House, c. 1848. 23-story frame transitional Greek
Revival/Italianate house. L-shaped plan with gabled pavilion fronting on
street; 3 bays wide by 3 bays deep:

C # 76: c. 1890. 2%-story frame Queen Anne house. L-shaped plan; gabled pavilion
faces street. 1 bay wide by 2 bays deep.

C # 79: Russell G. Smith House, c. 1855. 2%i-story frame Greek Revival house. Gable
end faces street; 3 bays wide by 3 bays deep.
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C # 81: c. 1890. 3-story frame triplex. Flat roof; 5 bays wide.
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C # 135: Anson Brown House, 1854. 2i-story frame Greek Revival house. Gable end faces
street; 3 bays wide by 3 bays deep.

N # 139: c. 1960. 1-story frame house. Gable end to street; 3 bays wide.

C # 145: Edwin Pratt House, 1853. 2-story frame Italianate house. Gable end faces
street; 2 bays wide.

C # 151: Ebson E. Westcott House, 1851. 2i-story frame Greek Revival house. Gable end
faces street; 3 bays wide by 2 bays deep.

C # 152: Nicholas C. Goodale House, between 1846 and 1851. 2l-story frame Greek Revival
house. Gable end perpendicular to street; 3 bays wide by 1 bay deep.

C # 156: Hubbard & Mary Jane Goodale House, 1860. 1i-story frame Greek Revival/Italianate
house. Gable end faces street; 3 bays wide.

C # 161:: William H. Young House, 1852. 2-story frame Italianate house. Shallow hip roof;
2 bay facade.

C # 162: c. 1850. 2-story frame Greek Revival house. Gable end faces street; 2 bays
wide by 1 bay deep.

C # 167: George W. Linsley House, 1847-51. 2%-story frame Greek Revival house. Gable
end perpendicular to street; 5 bays wide by 3 bays deep.
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C# 171: 1873. - 2%-story frame Italianate house. Gable end faces street; 3 bays wide by
2 bays deep.

C #179: c. 1930. 1i-story frame bungalow. Gable roof with shed roof dormer. 3 bays
wide by 2 bays deep.

C # 180: Samuel M. Tuttle House, between 1853 and 1860. 2-story frame Italianate house;
3 bays wide.

C # 195: William H. Stephens House, 1866. 2%1-story frame Italianate house. Gable end
faces street; 3 bays wide by 3 bays deep.

N # 196-98: c. 1965. 2-story frame split-level duplex. U bays wide. Identical to
# 200-202.

N # 200-202: C. 1965. 2-story frame split-level duplex. U4 bays wide. Identical to
# 196-198.

C # 204: c. 1875. 2-story frame Italianate house. Gable ends perpendicular to street;
3 bays wide by 2 bays deep.

C # 205: c. 1915: 1%-story frame Colonial Revival bungalow. Gambrel roof perpendicular
to street with central gambrel-roof cross gable. 2 bays wide by 2 bays deep.

C # 210: 1892. 2%-story frame Queen Anne house. L-shaped plan; gabled pavilion faces
street. 3 bays wide by 3 bays deep.

C# 217: William Blatchley House, 1856. 2%1-story Italianate house. Gable end faces
street; 3 bays wide by 4 bays deep.
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C # 220: Martin Allen House, 1848. 2i-story frame Greek Revival house. Gable end
perpendicular to street; 3 bays wide by 2 bays deep.

C # 223: c. 1890. 2%-story frame Queen Anne/Colonial,.Revival house. Gable end faces
street; 3 bays wide by 4 bays deep.

C # 227: W.A. Eldridge House, 1896. 2i-story frame Queen Anne house. Intersecting
gable roof with a 3-story tower with an onion dome roof; 3 bays wide by 3
bays deep (Photograph # 28).

C # 232: c. 1910. 2%-story frame Colonial Revival house. Intersecting hip and gable
roof; 3 bays wide by 3 bays deep.

C # 235: Frederick W.J. Sizer House, 1888. 2%i-story frame Queen Anne house. L-shaped
plan; gabled pavilion fronts on street; 3 bays wide by 5 bays deep.

C # 238-240: c. 1920s. 2%i-story frame Colonial Revival duplex. Intersecting gable roof
with primary gable facing on street; 3 bays wide by 5 bays deep.

N # 241: c. 1960. 1-story frame house. Gable ends perpendicular to street; 3 bays
wide by 2 bays deep.

N # 250-252: c. 1965. 1-story masonry and frame ranch house. Gable ends perpendicular
to street; 4 bays wide by 2 bays deep.

C # 257: 1917. 1i-story frame bungalow. Gable roof with central gabled dormer; 3 bays
wide by 2 bays deep.
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C # 259: 1917. 1i-story frame bungalow. Gable roof; central gabled dormer; 3 bays
wide by 3 bays deep.

C # 261: Amos & Anna Leet House, 1847. 2%-story frame Greek Revival house. Gable
end faces street; 3 bays wide.

C # 26U4: c. 1890. 2i-story frame Queen Anne house. Gable end faces street; 3 bays
wide by 3 bays deep.

C # 267-69: E. Allen & Charlotte Huntley House, 1846. 2i-story frame Greek Revival
house. Gable end faces street; 3 bays wide by 4 bays deep.

C # 270: c. 1890. 21-story frame Queen Anne house. Gable end faces street; 3 bays
wide by 5 bays deep.

C # 271-273: c. 1910. 2i-story frame Queen Anne/Colonial Revival duplex. Gable end
faces street; 2 bays wide by 4 bays deep.

C # 274: James E. Henderson House, 1869. 23-story frame Italianate house. Gable end
faces street; 3 bays wide by 6 bays deep.

C # 279: Merritt Farren House, 1852. 2-story frame Greek Revival house. Gable end
faces street; 3 bays wide by 4 bays deep.

C # 280: Second Marvin Henderson House, 1840. 2%-story frame Greek Revival house.
Gable end faces street; 2 bays wide by 5 bays deep.
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C # 285: Wyllis Hemingway House, 1851. 21-story frame Italianate house. Gable end faces
street; 3 bays wide by 4 bays deep.

C # 286: First Marvin Henderson House, between 1831 and 1836. 2%i-story frame Greek
Revival house. Gable end perpendicular to street; 4 bays wide by 3 bays deep.

C # 290: c. 1875. 2%-story brick and frame Greek Revival house. Gable end perpendicular
to street; 3 bay facade. Was originally an outbuilding for the Charles Bray
House at # 296 Lenox Street and was converted to a residence in the mid-20th
century when one facade was brick-veneered.

C # 291: 1812. 2%-story frame Federal house. Gable end perpendicular to street, 5 bays
wide by 2 bays deep.

C # 296: Charles A. Bray House, 1867. 2%-story frame Italianate house. Gable end faces
street; 3 bays wide.

C # 299: Edwin Russell House, c. 1870. 2%-story frame Italianate house. Gable end
faces street; 3 bays wide by 3 bays deep.

C # 305: Jonathan B. Huntby House, 1839. 2l-story frame Greek Revival house. Gable
end faces street; 3 bays wide by 3 bays deep.

C # 310: c. 1920-25. 2%}-story frame bungalow. Gable ends perpendicular to street;
3 bays wide by 2 bays deep.

C # 314: c. 1890. 2i-story frame Victorian Gothic house. Hip roof with intersecting
gabled pavilions; 3 bays wide by 3 bays deep.
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C # 315: Abijah M. Munson House, 1850. 2-story frame Italianate house. Shallow hip
roof; 3 bays wide by 2 bays deep.

C # 320: George A. Linsley House, 1860. 2%~story frame Italianate house. Gable end
faces street; 3 bays wide by 3 bays deep.

C # 321: Abraham Bradley House, 1839. Z-story frame Greek Revival house. Gable end
faces street; 3 bays wide by 3 bays deep.

C # 325: c. 1875. 2l-story frame Italianate house. Gable end faces street; 2 bays
wide by 7 bays deep.

C # 350: ¢c. 1880s. 2-story frame Italianate house. Gable ends perpendicular to street;
3 bays wide by 2 bays deep.

C # 355: Second Daniel A. Brown House, between 1851 and 1858. 2l-story frame Greek
Revival house.. Gable end faces street; 3 bays wide.

N # 356-358: c. 1940. 2-story cinder block Tudoresque house. Hipped roof; 3 bays wide
by 3 bays deep.

C # 361: First Daniel Brown House, 1847. 2i-story frame Greek Revival house. Gable
end faces street; 3 bays wide by 3 bays deep (Photograph # 17).

C # 366: c. 1880. 21-story frame Victorian Gothic house. Gable end faces street; 2
bays wide by 2 bays deep.
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C.# 367: George Hults House, 1835. 2i-story frame Greek Revival house. Gable end faces
street; 3 bays wide by 5 bays deep (Photograph # 17).

C # 373: Daniel H. Granniss House, 1849-50. 2I-story frame Greek Revival house. Gable
end faces street; 3 bays wide by 3 bays deep (Photograph # 17).

C # 374: c. 1870. 2-story frame Italianate house. Hipped roof; 2 bays wide by 5 bays
deep.

C # 377:: Ammie & Harriet Tyler House, c. 1875. 2i-story frame Italianate house. Gable
end faces street; 3 bays wide by 3 bays deep.

C # 378: c. 1870. 2-story frame Italianate house. Hipped roof; 2 bays wide by 5 bays
deep.

C # 381: c. 1880. 2%-story frame Victorian Gothic house. Gable end faces street; 3
bays by 3 bays deep.

C # 387: Merritt Brown House, c. 1830. 2%-story frame Greek Revival House. Gable end
faces street; 2 bays wide by 1 bay deep.
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Lewis Street

C # 2: John & Maria Stirrup House, 1871. 2%i-story frame Italianate house. Gable end
faces street; 3 bays wide by 3 bays deep.

C # 4: Warren Perkins House, 1870. 2%-story frame Italianate house. Gable end faces
street; 2 bays wide by 2 bays deep.

C # 8: 1870. 2%-story frame Italianate house. Gable end faces street; 2 bays wide
by 2 bays deep.

C # 12: 1871. 2=-story frame Italianate house. L-shaped plan; gable pavilion faces
street; 2 bays wide by U4 bays deep.

C # 13: James L. Bassett House, 1876-77. 2i-story frame Italianate house. L-shaped
plan; gabled pavilion faces street; 3 bays wide by 3 bays deep.

C # 1h: 1871. 2-story frame Italianate house. L-shaped plan; gabled pavilion faces
street. L-shaped plan; 2 bays wide by 3 bays deep.

C # 15: Antione Williams House, 1872. 2%-story frame Italianate house. Gable end
faces street; 3 bays wide by 3 bays deep.

C # 16: 1871-72. 2-story frame Italianate house. L-shaped plan; gabled pavilion
faces street; -2 bays wide by 3 bays deep.

C# 17: c. 1910. 2-story frame Colonial Revival house. Hipped roof; 2 bays wide.
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C# 21: c. 1925. 2-story frame Colonial Revival house; gable ends perpendicular to
street; 4 bays wide by 2 bays deep.
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Lexington Avenue

C # 433: c. 1830. 13i-story frame Greek Revival house. Gable end faces street; 3 bays
by 3 bays deep. Vertical-board 19th-century carriage barn at the rear.

N # 430: c. 1960. 1-story frame ranch house.

C # 439: c. 1830. 2%-story frame Greek Revival house. Gable end facing street; 3 bays
wide by 3 bays deep; faces south away from street. 19th-century vertical-board
carriage barn at the rear.

C # 442: c. 1860. 2-story frame Italian Villa. Shallow hipped roof; 5 bays wide by
2 bays deep. Oriented south, away from street.
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North Front Street

C # 182-184: Stephen Rowe House and Tavern, 1804. 2l-story frame Post-Colonial house.

185:

186

188:

192:

195:

198:

Center chimney; gable end perpendicular to street. 5 bays wide by 2 bays deep
(Photograph # 1).

1950s or 1960s. 2-story brick commercial building. Flat roof; 3 bays wide by
3 bays deep (Photograph # 1).

Isaac Mallory House, c. 1839. 1-story brick and frame Greek Revival house.
Gable end perpendicular to street; 5 bays wide:by 3 bays deep (Photograph # 1).

Rhoda Mallory House, ¢. 1855. 2-story frame transitional Greek Revival-
Italianate house. Shallow hip roof; 4 bays wide by 3 bays deep (Photograph
#1).

Alfred Mallory House, c. 1844, 21-story frame Greek Revival house. Gable
end faces street; 3 bays wide by 2 bays deep (Photograph # 1).

Harlaco, c. 1965. 1-story brick commercial building. Flat roof; 3 bays wide
by 5 bays deep.

Levi Granniss House, c. 1790. l-story frame Federal house. gable end faces
street; 2 bays wide by 5 bays deep (Photograph # 3).

200-202: Levi Granniss, Jr. House, 1847. 1}-story frame Greek Revival house. Gable

201:

end faces street; 3 bays wide by 3 bays deep (Photograph # 3).

Amber Glass Company, c¢. 1945, 1-story brick commercial building.
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C # 204: Henry H. Granniss House, c. 1840. 2-story frame transitional Federal/Greek
Revival house. Gable end faces street. 3 bays wide by 3 bays deep.

C # 208: Benomi Gillet, Jr. House, 1818-1819. 1i-story frame Federal house. Gable end
faces street; 1 bay wide by 5 bays deep.

C # 210, c. 1870. 1i-story frame Italianate house. Gable end faces street; 1-bay wide
by 3 bays deeps

N # 213: Benedict & Company, c. 1930. 1-story frame commercial building. Gable ends
perpendicular to street. 1-story gable roof shed and eight fuel oil tanks on
back of lot.

C # 221: J.P. O'Halloran's Pottery, 1912, 1-story frame oyster shed converted c. 1917
to a pottery. Gable roof; false front with a modelled parapet faces street.
3 bays wide by 3 bays deep (Photograph # 32).,

C # 224: Jesse & Louisa Ball House, 1841. 2-story frame Greek Revival house. Gable
end perpendicular to street; 5 bays wide by 3 bays deep.

C # 228: Zina Ball House, c. 1844, 1l-story frame Greek Revival house. Gable end
: perpendicular to street; 5 bays wide by 2 bays deep (Photograph # 8).

C # 231: John W. Rowe House, c. 1860. 21-story frame Italianate house. Gable end faces
street; 3 bays wide by 3 bays deep.

C # 232: John W. Rowe House, c. 1852. 1i-story frame Greek Revival house. Gable end
faces street; 3 bays wide by 3 bays deep.
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C # 234-236: John Rowe/Ira Ball House, c. 1807. 2%-story frame Federal house. Gable
ends perpendicular to street; 5 bays wide by 2 bays deep.

C # 240: Eveline A. & Hannah Ball House, 1857. 2}-story frame Greek Revival house.
Gable ends perpendicular to street; 5 bays wide by 3 bays deep.

C # 243: c. 1930. 2%-story Colonial Revival frame house. Gambrel roof; ends perpendi-
cular to street; 5 bays wide by 3 bays deep.

C # 253: John E. Munson House, c. 1875. 21-story frame Italianate house. Gable end
faces street; 3 bays wide by 2 bays deep.

C # 255: c. 1875. 23%-story frame Italianate house. Gable end faces street; 6 bays
wide by 2 bays deep.

C.# 256: Charles & Jane Lewis House, 1824-25. 1l-story frame Federal house. Gable end
faces street; 3 bays wide by 2 bays deep.

C # 258: Anson K. & Emma Brown House, 1890. 2%-story frame Queen Anne house. Gable
end faces street; 3 bays wide by 3 bays deep.

C # 259: c. 1895. 2i-story frame Victorian Gothic house. Gable end faces street; 3
bays wide by 3 bays deep.

C # 260: pre-1824. 1l-story frame Federal house with late 19th century addition.
Main block has gable roof and is 3 bays wide by 2 bays deep.

N # 263: c. 1950. 1-story cinder block garage.
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C #
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William & Lucy Ann Brooks House, c. 1846. 2-story frame Italian Villa. Shallow
hip roof; 3 bays wide by 2 bays deep (Photograph # 36).

John E. Sturrup Oyster Shed, c. 1875. 2-story frame oyster shed converted to
an Italianate house. Gable end faces street; 2 bays wide by 3 bays deep.

Daniel H. Brown House, before 1876. 1}-story frame Greek Revival house. Gable
ends perpendicular to street; 5 bays wide by 2 bays deep.

Henry B. Day House, c. 1833. 1}-story frame Greek Revival house. Gable end
faces street; 2 bays wide by 3 bays deep.

Eveline P. Goodsell House, c. 1855. 2%-story frame transitional Greek Revival-
Italianate house. Gable end faces street; 3 bays wide by 3 bays deep.

6 Pine Street: Jesse Ludington/Clarissa Story Houses, c. 1832. 1i-story
frame Carpenter Gothic house. Gable end perpendicular to street with cross
gable wings. 2 bays wide by 3 bays deep.

Waucoma Yacht Club, c. 1890. 1-story frame oyster shed building altered in
the early 20th century to a yacht club building. Gable end faces street; one
bay wide.

Stiles Mansfield Grocery Store, c. 1846. 2i-story frame Greek Revival house.
Gable end faces street; 3 bays wide by 3 bays deep.

John Jacobs House, 1846-47. 1i-story frame Greek Revival house. Gable end
faces street; 3 bays wide by 2 bays deep.
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C # 289: 01d Barge Restaurant, c. 1880. 2-story frame commercial building made from
a converted oyster barge.

C # 292: James E. Bishop House, 1847-48. 1l-story frame Greek Revival house. Gable
end faces street; 3 bays wide by 3 bays deep.

N # 294: c. 1960. 1-story frame house.

N # 298: c. 1960. 1-story frame ranch house.

C # 302: Joseph Chipman, Jr. House, 1847-48. 2-story frame Greek Revival house. Gable
end faces the street; 3 bays wide by 3 bays deep.

C # 306: c. 1925. 1-story frame bungalow. Gable end to street; 3 bays wide.

C # 310: c. 1925. 1-story frame Colonial Revival bungalow. Gable end faces street;
4 bays wide.

C # 313: c. 1900. 2%-story stucco and frame Colonial Revival house. Gable faces
street; 3 bays wide by 4 bays deep.

C # 314: c. 1925. 11-story frame bungalow. ‘Hipped roof; 3 bays wide. Pedimented
dormers.

N '# 315: c¢. 1970. 1-story stuccoes masonry commercial building.

C # 318: c. 1890. 2i-story frame Stick style/Colonial Revival house. Gable end faces
street; 3 bays wide by 2 bays deep.
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C# 329: c. 1920. 2-story frame Colonial Revival house. L-shaped plan; gabled pavilion
faces street. 3 bays wide by 2 bays deep.

C # 331: c. 1900. 2-story frame Queen Anne/Colonial Revival house. Gable end faces
street; 2 bays wide by 2 bays deep.

C # 332: James H. Goodsell House, c. 1848. 2I-story frame Greek Revival house. Gable
end to street; 3 bays wide by 4 bays deep.

C # 333: c. 1910. 2-story frame Colonial Revival house. Gable end faces street; 2 bays
wide by 3 bays deep.

C # 334: John D. Goodsell House, c. 1848. 1l=story frame Greek Revival house. Gable
end faces street; 3 bays wide by 3 bays deep.
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Oxford Street

C # 27: c. 1850. 2-story frame Italian Villa. Shallow hipped roof; U4 bays wide by 2
bays deep.

N # t4: c. 1965. 2-story frame dupléx. Gable ends perpendicular to street; U4 bays
by 2 bays deep.
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Perkins Street

C # 21=23: 1909. 21-story frame Queen Anne/Colonial Revival duplex.

Gable end faces

street; 3 bays wide by 5 bays deep. Designed by A.H. Hale and built by James

A. Thorpe.

C # 24: c. 1890. 2-story frame Victorian Gothic house. Gable end faces street; 4

bays wide by 3 bays deep.

C # 27: Capt. James Woodhouse House, 1860 - 1861. 2-story frame Italianate house.

Gable end faces street; 3 bays wide by 2 bays deep.

C # 28: c. 1900. 23-story frame Victorian Gothic house. Gable end faces street; 3

bays wide by 3 bays deep.

N.# 31: c. 1945. 1i-story brick and frame Colonial Revival house.
street; 3 bays wide.

Gable end faces

C # 32: James E. Woodhouse House, 1880. 2%-story frame Victorian Gothic house. Gable

end faces street; 3 bays wide by 3 bays deep.

C # 34: Nathaniel P. Shippey, c. 1860. 23-story frame late Greek Revival house.

Gable end faces street; 3 bays wide by 2 bays deep.

C # 35: Charlotte Woodhouse House, c. 1855. 2-story frame transitional late Greek
Revival/Italianate house. Gable end faces street; 2 bays wide by 2 bays deep.

C # 36: William W. & Elmira Rhodes House, c. 1860. 2%-story late Greek Revival house.

Gable end faces street; 3 bays wide by 2 bays deep.
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C # 40: William H. Merrow house, 1855. 2i-story frame late Greek Revival house. Gable

end faces street; 3 bays wide by 2 bays deep.

C # 43: Evelyn T. Pierpont House, c. 1880. 1%-story frame late Gothic Revival cottage.
Gabled pavilion faces street; 3 bays wide by 3 bays deep.

C # 47: Amoret Conklin House, 1871-72. 2%-story frame Italianate house. Gabled end
faces street; 3 bays wide by 2 bays deep.

C # 49: Wallace W. Sperry House, 1871-72. 2%-story frame Italianate house. Gable end
faces street; 3 bays wide by 3 bays deep.

C # 51: George and Carol Gidney House, 1872. 23i-story frame Italianate house. Gable
end faces street; 3 bays wide by 2 bays deep.

C # 52-54: c¢. 1910. 23-story frame Colonial Revival house. Gable end faces street;
3 bays wide by 4 bays deep.

C # 53: c. 1872. 2%-story frame Italianate house. Gable end faces street; 3 bays
wide by 2 bays deep.

C # 55: Sigmund Bauer House, 1872. 2i-story frame Italianate house. L-shaped plan;
gable end faces street. Unusual board and batten siding; U4 bays wide by 2

bays deep.
C # 56: c. 1900. 3-story brick town house. Flat roof; 3 bays wide by 7 bays deep.
C # 60: c. 1925. 2%-story frame Colonial Revival house. Gable end faces street; 3

bays wide by 2 bays deep.
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C # 62: c. 1915. 23-story frame Colonial Revival House. Hip roof; 2 bays wide by 2
bays deep.

C # 63=-65: Maurice & Mary Connor House, 1871. 2i-story frame Italianate house. Gable
end faces street; 3 bays wide by 5 bays deep.

C # 64: ¢. 1913-15: 2%-story frame Colonial Revival house. Hip roof; 2 bays wide by
2 bays deep.

C # 66: Anthony & Bertha Parell House, c. 1862. 2%-story frame late Greek Revival
house. Gable end faces street; 3 bays wide by 2 bays deep.

C # 67: Patrick S. Ryan House, 1870. I-story frame Greek Revival house. Gabled
pavilion faces street; 3 bays wide by 2 bays deep.

C # 68: 1886. 23-story frame Victorian Gothic house. Gable end faces street; 3 bays
wide by 3 bays deep.

C # T0: 1886. 2%i-story frame Victorian Gothic house. Gable end faces street; 3 bays
wide by 3 bays deep.

C# 71: Peter McDermott House, 1869. 23i-story frame late Greek Revival house. Gable
end faces street; 3 bays wide.

C # 73: c. 1890. 2I-story frame Queen Anne/Colonial Revival house. 3 bays wide by
2 bays deep.

C # Th: Ebenezer R. & Catherine Davis House, 1863. 2i-story frame late Greek Revival
house. Gable end faces street; 3 bays wide.
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C # 75¢ John Dwyer House, 1873. 23-story frame Italianate house. Gable end faces street;
3 bays wide by 3 bays deep.

C # 86: Andrew W. & Abigail K. Hull House, 1875. 2%-story frame Italianate house. L-
shaped plan; gabled pavilion faces street. Three bays wide.

C # 88: Samuel Matthews House, 1854, 23-story frame Greek Revival house. Gable end
perpendicular to street; 3 bays wide by 2 bays deep.
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Pierpont Street

C # 33: c. 1900. 2%-story frame Colonial Revival house. Gable end faces street;
3 bays wide.

C # 30: Henry Allen House, 1846-47. 2l-story frame transitional late Greek Revival~
Italianate house. Gable end faces street; 3 bays wide by 4 bays deep.

C # 34: c. 1840. 2-story frame Greek Revival house with late 19th century additions.
Gable end faces street; 1 bay wide.

C # 35: Walter and Hattie Welton House, 1887-88. 21-story frame Victorian Gothic
house. L-shaped plan; gable pavilion faces street. 3 bays wide by 3 bays
deep.

C # 37: c. 1890. 23-story frame Victorian Gothic house. Gable end faces street;
3 bays wide.

C # 40: Ebenezer and Martha Allen House, 1855-56. 2-story frame late Greek Revival
house. Gable end faces street; 2-story flat roofed wing on side 4 bays wide
by 2 bays deep.

C # 41: 1848-49. 2}-story frame Greek Revival house. Gable end faces street; 3 bays
wide by 2 bays deep.

C # 42: After 1868. 2-story frame Greek Revival house. Gable end faces street; 2
bays wide by 2 bays deep. Possibly moved to this site in the late nineteenth
century.

C # 44: c. 1830. 23-story frame Greek Revival house. Gable end faces street; 3 bays
wide by 2 bays deep.
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C # u5: c. 1900. 2z-story frame Colonial Revival house. Gable end faces street; 3
bays wide.

C # kU6: Wealthy Ann & David L. Bunnell House, 1848. 2l-story frame Greek Revival
house. Gable end faces street; 3 bays wide by 5 bays deep.

C # 53: ¢. 1900. 2%-story frame Colonial Revival house. Gable end faces street; 3
bays wide.

C # 55: c. 1890. 23-story frame Victorian Gothic house. Gable end faces street; 3
bays wide (Photograph # 27).

C # 56-58: Peter T. Clyne House, c. 1891-92. 2l-story frame Victorian Gothic house.
Gable end faces street; 3 bays wide by 2 bays deep.

C# 61: c. 1890. 2i-story frame Victorian Gothic house. Gable end faces street;
3 bays wide (Photograph # 27).

C # 62: c. 1865. 2-story frame late Greek Revival house. Gable ends perpendicular
to street; 6 bays wide by 2 bays deep.

C # 63: c. 1890. %-story frame Queen Anne/Colonial Revival house. Gable end faces
street; 3 bays wide (Photograph # 27).

C # 64: c. 1890. 23-story frame Queen Anne house. Gable end faces street; 3 bays
wide.
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C # 66: c. 1850. 1}-story frame Greek Revival house. Gable end faces street; 2 bays
wide by 2 bays deep.

C # 68: c. 1910. 3-story frame Colonial Revival duplex. Flat roof; 3 bays wide.

C.# 69: c. 1900. T-story frame Queen Anne/Colonial Revival house. Gable end faces
street; 3 bays wide. Identical to # 71 (Photograph # 27).

C# 71: c. 1900. 2%-story frame Queen Anne/Colonial Revival house. Gable end faces
street; 3 bays wide. Identical to # 69 (Photograph # 27).

C # Th: c. 1930. 1-story stuccoed masonry bungalow. Hipped roof; 2 bays wide by 3 bays
deep.

C # 76: c. 1870. 23-story frame Italianate house. Gable end faces street; 3 bays wide
by 2 bays deep.

C# 77: c. 1890. 2l-story frame Queen Anne/Colonial Revival house. Gable end faces
street; 3 bays wide by 3 bays deep.

C # 78: Fair Haven Seminary, 1851. 2-story frame Italian Villa used in the early
1850s as a school. Shallow hip roof; 3 bays wide by 2 bays deep.

C # 79: c. 1875. 2i-story frame Victorian Gothic house. L~-shaped plan; gabled pavilion
faces street. 3 bays wide by 2 bays deep.

C # 80: After 1868. 2}-story frame transitioénal Greek Revival/Italianate house. Gable

end faces street; 3 bays wide by 3 bays deep. Possibly moved to this site
after 1868.
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C # 81: c. 1910. I-story frame Colonial Revival duplex. Mansard roof; 4 bays wide
by 5 bays deep.

C.# 84: c. 1870. 2-story frame Italian Villa. Shallow hip roof; 3 bays wide by 3 bays
deep.

C # 85: Timothy Stannard House, c. 1854. 2-story frame Greek Revival house. Gable
end faces street; 3 bays wide by 3 bays deep.
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C#T7: c. 1820. 2-story frame Federal cottage. Gable end faces street; 3 bays by
2 bays deep (Photograph # 4).

C # 8: James Story House, 1822. 1i-story frame Federal cottage. Gable end faces
street; 4 bays wide by 3 bays deep.

C# 9: Sarah Minor/William Bunnell House, c. 1848. 1%-story frame Greek Revival
cottage. Gable end faces street; 3 bays wide by 3 bays deep (Photograph # 4).

C # 17: John M. Rowe House, c. 1865. 2i-story frame Italianate house. Gable end
faces street; 3 bays wide by 3 bays deep (Photograph # 9).

C # 20: c. 1925. 1-~story stuccoed masonry bungalow. 5 bays wide by 4 bays deep;

gable end faces street.

C # 24-26: ¢. 1922. 2%-story frame Colonial Revival house. Gable end faces street;
4 bays wide by 5 bays deep.

C # 25: Thomas D. Jones House, c. 1845. 1i-story frame Greek Revival house. Gable
end perpendicular to street; 5 bays wide by 2 bays deep.

C # 27: Yale-New Haven Pickling Company, 1919. 1-story cinder block commercial
building; attached to # 25. Gable end faces street.

C # 28-30: c. 1840. 2l-story frame Greek Revival house. Gable end faces street; 3 bays
wide by 4 bays deep.
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C # 25: Thomas D. Jones House, c. 1845. 11-story frame Greek Revival house. Gable ends
perpendicular to street; 5 bays wide by 2 bays deep.

C # 28-30: c. 1840. 2l-story frame Greek Revival house. Gable end faces street; 3 bays
wide by U4 bays deep.

C # 32: James M. King House, 1853. 2-story frame Greek Revival house. Gable end faces
street; 3 bays wide by 3 bays deep.

C # 33: c. 1900. 2-story frame Colonial Revival duplex. Flat roof; two 2-story 3-sided
canted bays flank central entrance. 5 bays wide by 4 bays deep.

C # 36: William V. Roberson House, 1853. 21-story frame Greek Revival house. Gable end
faces street; 3 bays wide by 3 bays deep.

C # 38-40: c. 1914. 21-story frame Queen Anne/Colonial Revival house. Gable end faces
street; 2 bays wide by 5 bays deep.

C # 39: c. 1885. 21-story frame Victorian Gothic/Queen Anne house. Gable end faces
street; 2 bays wide by 3 bays deep.

C # b1: c. 1890. 2i-story frame Queen Anne house. Gable end faces street; 3 bays wide
and 5 bays deep. Storefront on first floor.

C # 42: c. 1922. 2i-story frame Colonial Revival house. Gable end faces street; 3
bays wide by 2 bays deep.
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C # 48: c. 1880. 2%-story frame Victorian Gothic house. Gable end faces street;
3 bays wide by 5 bays deep.

C # 49: c. 1883. 2i-story frame Victorian Gothic house. Gable end faces street;
3 bays wide by 3 bays deep. Vertical board carriage barn at rear.

C # 55: c. 1890. 2l-story frame Victorian Gothic/Queen Anne house. Gable end faces
street; 3 bays wide by 3 bays deep.

C # 57: c. 1890. 2%1-story frame Victorian Gothic/Queen Anne house. Gable end faces
street; 3 bays wide by 3 bays deep.

C # 59: c. 1890. 2%-story frame Victorian Gothic/Queen Anne house. Gable end faces
street; 3 bays wide by 3 bays deep.

C # 61: c. 1880. 2%-story frame Italianate/Stick style house. Gable end faces street;
3 bays wide by 3 bays deep.

C# 71: Harry Thompson House, c. 1835. 2%1-story frame Greek Revival house. Gable end
faces street; 3 bays wide by 3 bays deep.
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South Front Street

C # 66: Captain Edwin Thompson House, c. 1842. 2l-story stuccoed masonry Greek Revival
house. Gable end faces street; 3 bays wide.
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Quinnipiac Avenue

C # 467: c. 1870. 2%-story frame Italianate house; gable end faces street; 3 bays wide
by 3 bays deep.

C # 470: Zebina Allen House, between 1836 and 1843. Z-story frame Greek Revival-style
house; gable end faces street; 3 bays wide by 3 bays deep.

C # 474-76: Nicholas C. Goodale House, 1836. 2%-story frame Greek Revival house; gable
end faces street; 3 bays wide by 2 bays deep; 2-story side addition.

C # 475: c. 1890. 2%-story frame Queen Anne house; hipped roof with projecting gabled
pavilions on sides; central gabled dormer 3 bays wide by 2 bays deep.

C # 481: c. 1910. 21-story frame Colonial Revival duplex; gable end faces street; 2
bays wide by 4 bays deep.

C # 485: c. 1910. 2%l-story frame Colonial Revival duplex; gable end faces street; 2
bays wide by 4 bays deep.

C # 489: €. 1930. 2%-story frame Colonial Revival apartment block; flat roof; 3 bays
wide by 7 bays deep.

C # 490: Jesse Mallory House, c. 1810. 1i-story frame Federal-style house; gable end
perpendicular to street; 5 bays wide by 2 bays deep.

C # 501: Orrin Mallory House, between 1848 and 1851; 2-story frame Greek Revival house;
low hip roof; 5 bays wide by 2 bays deep; fronts on Oxford Street.



Quinnipiac Avenue (cont)
NPS Form 10-900-a OMB No. 1024-0018
3-82) Exp. 10-31-84
United States Department of the Interior

National Park Service

National Register of Historic Places
Inventory—Nomination Form

Quinnipiac River Historic District
New Haven, Connecticut
Continuation sheet Item number 7 Page 72

C # 505: c. 1890. 2%i-story frame Queen Anne house. Gable ends perpendicular to street
with central cross gable. Six bays wide by 2 bays deep.

C #515: c. 1880. 2%-story frame Victorian duplex. Gable énd faces street; 3 bays wide
by 3 bays deep. Stick style 2%1-story frame carriage house with slate roof at
rear.

C # 517-19: c¢. 1920. 23-story frame Colonial Revival duplex gable end faces street; 3
bays wide by 4 bays deep.

C # 524: Bela Forbes House, 1832. 1i-story frame Federal/Greek Revival house. Gable
end faces street; 3 bays wide by 2 bays deep.

C # 525: Daniel and Johanna Sullivan House, between 1865 and 1868. 2l-story frame
Italianate house. Gable end fronts on street; 2 bays wide by 2 bays deep.

C # 529: David O'Connor House, between 1868 and 1870. 2l-story Italianate frame house.
Gable end faces street; 3 bays wide by 2 bays deep.

C # 530: James M. Shute House, 1850. 21-story frame Greek Revival house. Gable end
faces street; 3 bays wide by 2 bays deep. May have been built by Elbert
Munsell, a local joiner.

C # 533: Frederick L. Williams House, 1898. 21-story frame Queen Anne house. Gable
end perpendicular to street; 3-sided facade turret. 2 bays wide by 3 bays
deep (Photograph # 29).



Quinnipiac Avenue (cont)
NPS Form 10-900-a OMB No.1024-0018

3-82) Exp. 10-31-34
United States Department of the Interior
National Park Service

National Register of Historic Places
Inventory—Nomination Form

Quinnipiac River Historic District

ew. Haven, Connecticut
ntinuation sheet ltem number 7 Page 73

C # 535: William H. Stafford House, 1898. 2%I-story frame Queen Anne house. Gambrel
to street roof; 3-sided bay, 2 bays wide by 2 bays deep. (Photograph # 29.)

C # 536: Elbert Munsell House, 1853. 2%-story frame Greek Revival house. Gable end
faces street; 3 bays wide by 2 bays deep. Built by Elbert Munsell, a local
Joiner.

C # 538: ¢. 1910. 2%-story frame Colonial Revival house. Hipped roof with hipped
dormers. 3 bays wide by 4 bays deep.

C # 537: Louis R. Hemmingway House, 1898. 2%-story frame Queen Anne house. Gable
end perpendicular to street; 2 bays wide by 3 bays deep. 3-sided facade
turret.Foundation constructed by local mason Samuel Rodgers (Photograph # 29).

C # 539: Mary Brown House, 1898. 2%-story frame Queen Anne house. Gambrel end facing
street; 2 bays wide by 3 bays deep; 3-sided facade window bay; foundation
constructed by local mason Samuel Rodgers (Photograph # 29).

C # 543: Reuben J. Rice House, 1898. 2i-story frame Queen Anne house. Gable end
perpendicular to street; 2 bays wide by 3 bays deep; 3-sided facade turret;
foundation constructed by local mason Samuel Rodgers (Photograph # 29).

N # 546

.o

c. 1950. 1-story frame Colonial Revival house. Hipped roof with hipped
dormers; 3 bays wide by 4 bays deep.

C # 547: Henry P. Palmer House, c. 1875. 2i-story Italianate frame house. Gable
end faces street; 3 bays wide by 2 bays deep.

C # 553: Ruel and Sally Tuttle House, 1860. 2i-story frame Italianate house. Gable
end faces street; 3 bays wide by 2 bays deep.
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C # 561-63: William F. Mansfield House, 1889. 2l-story frame Queen Anne house. Gable
end faces street; broad 2 bays wide by 3 bays deep (Photograph # 19).

C # 565: Minor and Nancy Smith House, 1845. 1i-story frame Greek Revival House. Gable
end faces street; 3 bays wide by 3 bays deep (Photograph # 19).

C # 571: Hobart Ives House, 1872. 2Isstory frame Victorian Italianate house. Intersec-
ting gable and hip roof, and 3-story tower; 2 bays wide by 1 bay deep (Photograph
# 19).

C # 577: 1869-70. 23-story frame Carpenter Gothic house. Intersecting gable and hip
roof; 2 bays wide by 2 bays deep (Photograph # 19).

C # 583-85: Abbie G. Rowe House, 1869. 2l-story Italianate frame house. Gable end
faces street; 3 bays wide by 3 bays deep (Photograph # 19).

C # 595: Daniel Wedmore House, 1888. 2%-story frame Victorian Gothic house. Truncated
pyramidal roof; 2 bays wide by 2 bays deep (Photograph # 19).

C # 603: Luzerne Ludington House, 1883. 2i-story frame Queen Anne house. Intersecting
gable roof; 3 bays wide by 2 bays deep (Photograph # 19).

C # 609: William H. Stephens House, 1870. 2%-story frame Italianate house. Gable end
faces street; 3 bays wide by U4 bays deep (Photograph # 19).
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C # 610: c. 1830s-1920s. Long Island Oyster Farms, Oyster boat dock and storage facility.
11-story frame Federal/Greek Revival transitional house; 1-story Victorian Gothic-
Queen Anne office building; 1920s, 1i-story frame storage shed and 2 more modern
metal sheds (Photograph # 35).

C # 620: Joseph Ames, Jr., House, between 1835 and 1840. 2}-story frame Greek Revival
house. Gable end faces street; 3 bays wide by 3 bays deep (Photograph # 20).

C # 621: Frederick Mansfield House, 1856. 21-story frame Italianate house. Gable end
faces street; 3 bays wide by 2 bays deep (Photograph # 19).

C # 624-28: Justin Kimberly House, 1828-29. z-story frame Federal/Greek Revival house.
Gable end perpendicular to street; 5 bays wide by 3 bays deep (Photograph # 20).

C # 627; Obadiah Dickerman House, c. 1840; 2-story frame Italianate house; shallow hipped
roof; 3 bays wide by 3 bays deep (Photograph # 19).

C # 630: Lewis Pierpont House, between 1854-1856. 2i-story frame Italianate house. Gable
end faces~street; 3 bays wide by 3 bays deep (Photograph # 20).

C # 635: William Ames House, c. 1875. 2%-story frame Italianate house. Gable end faces
street; 3 bays wide by 2 bays deep.

C # 636: 1828. 2}-story frame Federal/Greek Revival house. Gable end perpendicular to
street; 5 bays wide by 2 bays deep (Photograph # 20).

C # 640-42: Joseph Ames, Sr.-Joseph Ames, Jr. House, 1831. 2l-story frame Greek Revival
house with Italianate detailing. Gable end perpendicular to street; 4 bays
wide by 2 bays deep (Photograph # 20).
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C # 641: Henry Linsley House, 1828-29. 2l-story frame Federal/Greek Revival house.
Gable end faces street; 3 bays wide by 5 bays deep.

C # 645: William Linsley House, 1828. 2l-story frame Federal/Greek Revival house.
Gable end faces street; 3 bays wide by 4 bays deep.

C # 646: John Farren House, 1836. 2}-story frame Greek Revival house. Gable end faces
street; 3 bays wide by 3 bays deep (Photograph # 20).

C # 651: Samuel Linsley House, 1830. 21-story frame Federal/Greek Revival house. Gable
end faces street; 3 bays wide by 3 bays deep.

C # 655: 1860. 2%3-story frame Italianate house. Gable end to street; 3 bays wide by
3 bays deep.

C # 661: Robert Linsley House, 1832. 2i-story frame Federal/Greek Revival house. Gable
end faces street; 3 bays wide by 3 bays deep.

C # 686: c. 1890. 2%-story frame Victorian Gothic/Queen Anne house. Gable end faces
street; 3 bays wide by 4 bays deep.

C # 690: Zina Mallory House, 1848. 2-story frame Italianate house. Low hip roof; 5
bays wide by 2 bays deep.

C # 698: Lyman Miller House, between 1842 and 1846. 2l-story Greek Revival frame house.
Gable end to street; 3 bays wide by 2 bays deep.
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C # 701: Edwin D. Fowler House, 1845. 23-story frame Greek Revival house. Gable end
faces street; 3 bays wide by 3 bays deep.

C # 702: Bradley-Ludington House, between 1829 and 1838. 2%-story frame Greek Revival
house. Gable end perpendicular to street; 5 bays wide by 1 bay deep.

C # 705: William and Lois Bradley House, 1835. 1%-story frame Greek Revival house.
Gable end faces street; 3 bays wide by 3 bays deep.

C # 710: William Bradley, Jr. House, c. 1830. 2}-story Greek Revival frame house.
Gable end faces street; 3 bays wide by 4 bays deep.

C # 7T14: Solomon Bradley House, 1834-5., 1i-story frame Greek Revival house. Gable
end faces street; 3 bays wide by 1 bay deep.

C # 715: ca. 1765, rebuilt ca. 1856. 2Il-story frame Italianate house. Gable end
perpendicular to street; 5 bays wide by 4 bays deep.

C # 718: James Hunt House, 1812. 2%i-story frame Federal house. Gable end perpendicular
to street; 5 bays wide by 2 bays deep.

N # 719: c. 1960. 13-story frame house. 3 bays wide.

N # 723: c. 1960. 1i-story frame house. 3 bays wide.

C # 730-4: ¢&. 1880. 3-story frame Italianate commercial building; 6 bays wide by 5
bays deep.
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C # 731-35: T31-Harvey Rowe II House; 735-Ruel Rowe House, c. 1830. Two nearly
identical 23-story frame Greek Revival houses. Gable end faces street; 3
bays wide by 2 bays deep. Joined to form a duplex.

C # 736: Rowe-Fowler House, between 1806 and 1811. 2}-story frame Federal house.
Gable end faces street; 3 bays wide by 3 bays deep.

C # 740: Nehemiah Smith House, 1833. 2%-story frame Greek Revival/Italianate house.
Gable end faces street; 3 bays wide by 4 bays deep.

C# T41: C. 1835. 2i-story frame Greek Revival house. Gable end faces street; 3
bays wide by 5 bays deep.

N # T44: c..1960. 1-story cinder block and frame garage.

C# 753 c. 1840. 2-story frame Greek Revival house. Gable end faces street; 2 bays
wide by U4 bays deep.

N # 756: c. 1960. 2-story frame and masonry split-level duplex.

C # 759: Wyllys Hemingway House, 1849. 2-story frame Italianate house. Low hip roof;
3 bays wide by 3 bays deep.

C # T764: Daniel Rowe House, c¢. 1830. 2l~story frame Greek Revival house. Gable end
perpendicular to street, 5 bays wide by 2 bays deep.

C # 765: Stephen Rowe House, 1844, 2%-story frame Greek Revival house. Gable end faces
street; 3 bays wide by 3 bays deep.
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C # 773: Scranton-Tuttle House, 1840. 2l-story frame Greek Revival house. Gable end
faces street; 3 bays wide by 3 bays deep.

C# 776: c. 1875. 3-story frame Italianate house. L-shaped plan. Gable end faces
street; 6 bays wide by 2 bays deep.

C# 779: Willard Mallory House, 1839. 2l-story frame Greek Revival house. Gable end
faces street; 3 bays wide by 3 bays deep.

C # 781: MallorysLewis House, c. 1835. 23-story frame Greek Revival house. Gable end
faces street; 3 bays wide by 3 bays deep.

C # 789: Jared Mallory House, 1833. 2%-story frame Federal/Greek Revival house. Gable
end faces street; 3 bays wide by 3 bays deep.

C # 790: c. 1890. 2%-story frame Queen Anne/Colonial Revival house. Gable end faces
street; 2 bays wide by 3 bays deep.

C # 797: Lewis Ludington House, c. 1840. 23-story frame plain mid-19th century domestic
house. Gable end faces street; 4 bays wide by 3 bays deep.

N # 798: c. 1960. 2%l-story brick duplex. Gable ends perpendicular to street; 3 bays
wide by 2 bays deep.

N # 800: c. 1960. 2-story brick duplex. Gable ends perpendicular to street; 3 bays
wide by 2 bays deep.

C # 806: c. 1930. 2%i-story frame Colonial Revival house. Gable ends perpendicular to
street; 5 bays wide by 3 bays deep.
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C #

818:

8o2:

825:

826

832:

837:

838:

U6

847

850

Henry Mallory House, between 1845-1851. 2%-story Italianate frame house. Low
hip roof; 4 bays wide by 3 bays deep.

c. 1940. 2-story frame Colonial Revival house. Gable ends perpendicular to
the street; 2 bays wide by 2 bays deep.

c. 1900. 21-story frame Queen Anne house. Gable ends perpendicular to street.
5 bays wide by 2 bays deep.

Reuben J. Rice House, 1857. 2%-story frame Italianate house. Gable end faces
street; 2 bays wide and 2 bays deep.

Willet Rowe House, between 1835-1839. 2%i-story Greek Revival frame house.
Gable end faces street; 3 bays wide by 3 bays deep.

Lucius Rowe House, 1858. 23-story frame Italianate house. Gable end faces
street; 3 bays wide by 3 bays deep.

Thomas and Mary Ann Brown House, 1844, 21-story frame Greek Revival house.
Gable end perpendicular to street; 3 bays wide by 4 bays deep.

c. 1880. 2i-story frame Victorian Gothic house. Gable end faces street;
3 bays wide by 3 bays deep.

Thomas Granniss, Jr. House, between 1849 and 1851. 2%-story Greek Revival
frame house. Gable end faces street; 3 bays wide by 3 bays deep.

c. 1930. 1}-story frame Colonial Revival house. Gable ends perpendicular
to street; engaged porch; 3 bays wide by 1 bay deep.
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853:

858

861:

864:

869

874

875:

882:

883:

Henry Bush House, 1840-41. 1Z-story frame Greek Revival house. Gable end
faces street; 3 bays wide by 3 bays deep.

Lucius and Ellen Deming House, 1886. 2%-story frame Queen Anne house.
Gable end faces street; 3 bays wide by 3 bays deep.

Hubbard Barnes House, 1849. 2}-story frame Greek Revival house. Gable end
faces street; 3 bays wide by 3 bays deep.

Between 1879 and 1885. 23-story frame Queen Anne house. Intersecting gable
and hip roof; 3 bays wide by 3 bays deep.

Albert Rowe House, between 1859 and 1861. 2l-story frame Greek Revival house.
Gable end faces street; 3 bays wide by 5 bays deep.

Lewis Gunn House, 1871. 2%-story frame Italianate house. Gable end faces
street; 3 bay facade by 3 bays deep.

James A. Baldwin House, 1850. 1Z-story Greek Revival frame house. GCable
end faces street; 3 bays wide by 3 bays deep.

Henry Kister House, 1865 or 1866. 2%-story load bearing masonry, Greek Revival
house. Gable end faces street; 3 bay facade and 1 bay deep.

Lucius Baldwin House, 1853. z-story frame Greek Revival house. Gable end
faces street; 3 bays wide by 3 bays deep.
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N # 884: c. 1960. 1-story frame ranch; 2 bays wide by 4 bays deep.

C # 889; c. 1875. 2-story frame Italianate house. L-shaped plan; gabled pavilion
faces street. 2 bays wide by 2 bays deep.

C # 890: Lawrence Ellenburger House, between 1871 and 1873. 2l-story frame Italianate
house. Gable end faces street; 3 bay facade, and 4 bays deep.

C # 896: James M. Baldwin House, 1871. 2%-story frame Carpenter Gothic House. Gable
end faces street; 3 bays wide by 4 bays deep.

C # 904: Richard G. Davis House, between 1879 and 1883. 2l-story frame Queen Anne
house. Intersecting gable roof; 3 bays wide by 2 bays deep.

C # 930: Wilet Hemingway House, 1888-9. 2%1-story frame Queen Anne house. Intersecting
gable roof; 2 bays wide by 2 bays deep.

C # 965: c. 1880. 2%-story frame Queen Anne house. Gable end faces street; 3-bay
facade, 5 bays deep.

C # 970: Hemingway-Buck House, between 1885-9. 2l-story frame plain Queen Anne house.
Gable end faces street; 3 bays wide by U4 bays deep.

C # 979: William R. Hemingway House, between 1852 and 1861. 2%-story frame Greek
Revival house. Gable end faces street; 3 bay facade by 2 bays deep.
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N #985: c. 1970. 2-story split level; 3 bays wide by 2 bays deep.

N # 986: c. 1970. 2-story frame Post Modern salt box apartment block.

C # 991: William E. Granniss House, 1886. 2l-story frame Queen Anne house. Gable
end faces street; 3 bays wide by 4 bays deep.

C #1000: c. 1910. 2%-story frame Colonial Revival house. Gable ends perpendicular
to street. 2 bays wide by 2 bays deep.

C # 1010: Wyllys Hemingway, Jr. House, 1856. 2%-~-story frame Greek Revival house.
Gable end faces street; 3 bay facade by 3 bays deep.
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Welcome Street

C # 12: Isaac Morely House, 1846. 2}-story frame Greek Revival house. Gable end
faces street; 2 bays wide by 2 bays deep (Photograph # 18).

C # 15: Frederick Mansfield House, 1851-58. 1l-story frame plain mid-19th century
domestic house. Gable ends perpendicular to street; one bay wide by one
bay deep.

C # 18: Alvin B. Rose House, 1846. 2%-story frame transitional Greek Revival-Itali-
anate house. Shallow hip roof; 5 bays wide by 2 bays deep (Photograph # 18).

C # 22-2U4: Russell Page House, 1875. 3-story frame plain mid-19th century domestic
house. Gable ends perpendicular to street; 5 bays wide (Photograph # 18).

C # 28: Sherman Russell House, 1842-46. t-story frame Greek Revival house. Gable
end faces street; 3 bays wide by 2 bays deep (Photograph # 18).



8. Significance

Period Areas of Significance—Check and justify below
prehistoric ~ archeology-prehistoric - community planning .. . landscape architecture X . religion
____ 1400-1499 _archeology-historic _ conservation . law .. science
. 1500-1599 __ agriculture _ ... economics ... literature . ... Sculpture
_ . 1600-1698 X architecture X education _ military . social/
X 1700-1799 .. art _engineering _ ... music humanitarian
X _1800-1899 X commerce ... exploration/settlement __ . philosophy - theater
X 1900~ -.. communications _industry ... politics:government ___ transportation
. _ invention _X__ other (specify)
Criteria A& C = ... .. Maritime History
Specific dates See inventory Builder/Architect See inventory

Statement of Significance (in one paragraph)

The Quinnipiac River Historic District is a rare surviving example of an intact and
cohesive nineteenth-century maritime community. (Criterion A) It gained prominence in
the mid-nineteenth century as a major oyster port, with ancillary industries of ship
building and shipping. It had its own economic and political institutions until the
late nineteenth century when it was annexed to the City of New Haven. Remaining today
are a great many early and mid-nineteenth century structures built by local oyster
dealers, mariners, and traders. Represented in the district are significant examples
of domestic architecture spanning a 100 year period (1785-1885) (Criterion C). These
include some of the city's best vernacular examples of Colonial, Greek Revival, Itali-
anate, and Italian Villa styles.

History *

The Quinnipiac River Historic District is centered on the main topographical feature
of the area, the Quinnipiac River. The confluence of the Quinnipiac River on the east
and the Mill River on the wets resulted in a broad, fertile plain known since Colonial
times as the "Neck" or "Great Neck". As the fresh water of the rivers blended with
the salt water of New Haven Harbor, broad shallow basins of water with brackish pools
and muddy salt flats formed around the Neck. These pools and flats provided a perfect
breeding ground for many shellfish, especially oysters.

Early Settlement 1638-1824

The Quinnipiac Indians inhabited the Quinnipiac River Valley on a seasonal basis and
their enjoyment of the oysters is evidenced by the huge shell heaps generated by their
expeditions which are located outside the district boundaries.

The first settlers came to New Haven in 1638 and the oysters on all sides of the harbor
provided an abundant source of food. The Neck was divided into farm lots and for over
one hundred years this area remained an open, undeveloped expanse of pasture and salt
meadows. On the east bank of the Quinnipiac the land distribution is thought to have
followed a similar pattern; large tracts were divided among the New Haven proprietors
as part of the town's Second Division in the last half of the seventeenth-century. In
1707, the land in the district was divided when the town of East Haven was formed east
of the Quinnipiac. Settlements occurred concurrently on both banks of the river but
the village which later became Fair Haven was in fact politically divided although it

¥ Large parts of this narrative were drawn directly from the sector histories of the
New Haven Historic Resources Inventory, Phase III, Vol. I. Most heavily relied upon
were the histories of Fair Haven (pp. 22-36) and The Annex: Fair Haven East (pp. 54-57).
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functioned in effect as one village. The first white settlement in the district occurred
in the late eighteenth century. Daniel Brown erected a house on the east bank facing the
present-day Quinnipiac Avenue c.1765, a little north of Grand Avenue. (The core of this
house still survives in a greatly altered state at 715 Quinnipiac Avenue, and is the old-
est documented residence in the district). On the Neck there was little development
except for the ferry path which extended from the northwest section of the Neck to the
southeast point where Pardee's Ferry, chartered in 1650, provided a means of transporta-
tion for horses and passengers across the river. A small riverside settlement developed
along the east bank of the river near the ferry, but no early buildings from this communi-
ty are extant. The earliest permanent residents of the Neck established homes in the area
by the late eighteenth century. Thomas Alling bought a house lot on the Neck in March,
1783, and in 1794 Moses and Dorothy Brocket sold a piece of land "with the old dwelling
house."! The earliest dwellings were built at the water's edge on the present day North
and South Front Streets. Although none of these early houses survive, their form does,

in houses built in the nineteenth century.2 The first houses were small, one or two=-room
timber-frame structures built on raised ashlar block basements just above the highwater
mark. The houses at 208, 254, and 262 North Front Street, although built in the early
nineteenth century, are indicative of these early waterfront dwellings.

A great spur to the development of the village, called Dragon, which was to span both
banks of the river, was the construction of a bridge in the early 1790s. The new bridge
straddled the river at approximately the same site as the present Grand Avenue bridge.
After the bridge was finished in 1792, settlement shifted from the area south of the
bridge northward to Grand Street, the newly completed east/west axis road linking the
bridge to the ferry path. Grand Street (now Grand Avenue) became the main street of
the growing village. Stephen Rowe, one of the early leading settlers of the village,
purchased a lot on the corner of Grand Avenue and North Front Street in 1796 and in the
following year he acquired a parcel diagonally across the corner adjacent to the bridge.
On the latter, he built in 1804 a large tavern and store that became the center of the
oyster trade in the early nineteenth century. This building still stands at 182 North
Front Street. Nathaniel Granniss, a real estate speculator, donated three-quarters of
an acre just west of the bridge on Grand Street for the purpose of a public common,

and as a site for a meeting house or school. The east bank of the river also went
through a period of change in the late eighteenth century. The town of East Haven
established a public east-west highway in 1790 following approximately the same route
as the present Quinnipiac Avenue. In the same year the town of East Haven also offered
for the first time lots for sale between the highway and the river. The construction
of the Grand Street bridge liked the small settlement on the east bank permanently with
the Neck settlement and provided a more direct route to New Haven for residents of the
town of East Haven.

Oyster fishing and trading was the primary early industry of the growing waterfront

community. In the first two decades of the nineteenth-century, scattered parcels were
bought and sold all along the water's edge. The parcels often included the "waterlot™"
in front of the parcel where the resident usually built a small wharf and sheds. The
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mollusks were gathered in long dugout canoes, then taken to each household where they were
opened by women and children in the dark, cool basements of each dwelling. After opening,
the oysters were placed in wooden kegs in which they were shipped out of town.

Oyster dealing was not the sole commercial activity however. Many early residents owned
small ships or schooners that plied the Atlantic coast. Several residents, including
Stephen Rowe, traveled as far south as the West Indies. Other residents were ship build-
ers, constructing one and two masted schooners in shipyards along the muddy banks. Still
other residents were small farmers.

The architecture of this early nineteenth century period is closely related to its
Colonial predecessors. On the west bank of the river the Levi Granniss House (c.1790)
at 198 North Front Street is a prototypical late eighteenth-century dwelling. The build-
ing has a center-chimney and is one and a half stories tall, situated on a random block
ashlar basement. The form and detail is strictly vernacular in expression. The raised
basement is a common indigenous feature that served as a workspace protected from the
elements, separate from the living quarters. The basic one-and-a-half-story frame
gable-roofed Post-Colonial house seems to have been the most common type of residence
during this period. Several examples of this simple house form survive at 208 North
Front Street (1818-1819), 254 North Front Street, 7 Pine Street (1820), and 8 Pine
Street (1822).

Another building type during this period is exemplified by Rowe's Tavern, a two-story
five~bay single pile frame structure with a central chimney. Another example of this
house form is the James Hunt House (1812) at 718 Quinnipiac Avenue on the east bank of
the river. The Justin Kimberly House at 624-628 Quinnipiac (1828-1829) and the Aner
Brown House at 291 Lenox Street (1812) present variations on this form.

Foreshadowing the popular gable-to-the-street Greek Revival house form is the Chancelor
Kingsbury House at 10 Clinton Avenue. This two-story frame structure is three bays
wide with a side hall plan and an elliptical fanlight over the entry. Other houses
showing the transition are the Rowe-Fowler House at 736 Quinnipiac (built between 1806
and 1811), and the Henry and William Linsley houses located respectively at 641 and

645 Quinnipiac Avenue (both 1828).

Few documented commercial buildings from this period survive in the district. The most
substantial of these is the King Block at 14 Grand Avenue. Built c¢.1820, this two-and-
a-half-story brick structure is set with its gable end to the street, typical of the

Federal style. This building is one of the earliest commercial structures in the city.

Growth of the Oyster Port 1825-1865

The years 1825-1865 saw the establishment of the bustling waterfront community that we
think of today as Fair Haven. In 1824 at a meeting of the inhabitants of the village
it was resolved to change the name of the community from Dragon to Fair Haven. From
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the initial settlement along the riverbank grew a densely settled autonomous community
complete with its own political, social and economic institution. In 1808, there were
one hundred and fifty people living in fifty dwellings in Fair Haven. By 1840, there

were seven hundred and eighty-seven inhabitants. It was during this period Fair Haven
split from the town of New Haven and created its own semi-autonomous government.

Oystering and its supporting industries had everything to do with the growth of Fair
Haven. Residents of neighboring towns moved here in the 1830s and 1840s and built

small waterfront dwellings along North and South Front Streets. In front of their

houses they extended wharves of cut sandstone into the muddy banks of the river. The
importation of oysters, first from neighboring rivers and bays such as the Housatonic
River, Newark Bay, and the North River, then from more distant places, such as Egg Harbor
and Delaware Bay, helped to make the local industry blossom into a major regional center
for oyster dealing and processing. By the 1830s, local mariners were sailing to the
Chesapeake Bay, returning with large quantities of southern oysters.

The importation of oysters due to the limits of local fields gave rive to a dramatic
increase in the scale of local operations. A fleet of schooners built in local shipyards
brought back thousands of bushels of oysters to be processed and then shipped inland to
regional markets. Although many families supplemented their incomes by processing oysters
at home, a growing number of dealers were large enough to be able to employ a dozen or
more people in their work. Oyster wharves and sheds were built to handle the work. Levi
Rowe and Company, an east shore dealer, had twenty vessels in operation, employed one
hundred or more people in processing 150,000 gallons of oysters a year. Other dealers

of note included the Barnes and Mallory Company, the J.E. Bishop and Company, Goodsell

and Rowe and coutless small dealers.

The oyster industry brought a host of ancillary industries to the community. One of the
earliest and most significant was shipping and ship building. Stephen Rowe traded with
the West Indies on a small scale as early as 1790. By 1836, twenty vessels were owned
by Fair Haveners, six in the West Indian trade, while the others plied the Atlantic
coast. These small marine operations exported lumber, apples, fish and ice to the south
and brought back cargoes of coal and cotton to New England. The Benham New Haven Direc-
tory of 1847-48 lists twenty-four shipmasters and twenty-eight mariners in Fair Haven.
By the mid-nineteenth century, the number of vessels increased dramatically to handle
large shipments of imported oysters. Eighty vessels were employed in the oyster trade
by 1857.

The demand for ships gave birth to a local ship building industry. There were four
major shipyards within the district, the G.W. Baldwin Company, and the J.H. Woodhouse
yards on the east shore, and Tuttle and Munsell Company, and Lane and Jacobs Company on
the west shore.

Keg, pail and tub makers were a third local industry, spawned to meet the needs of the
oyster trade. Zadoc Morse is listed as a keg maker in the 1847-48 New Haven City
Directory. The "Business Directory and Map of Fair Haven, 1856" lists James A. Preston
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on Ferry Street, L.A. Tanner on Pearl Street, and James Broughton in the King Block as
oyster keg and can manufacturers. By 1868, three large companies dominated the market,
producing the 150,000 kegs needed yearly. These were the Fair Haven Keg and Can Company,
the Kellogg and Ives factory, and the Fair Haven Oyster Keg Company.

Hiram A. Barnes manufactured lime from oyster shells, first on South Front Street, then
on Chapel Street. Other merchants and artisans took advantage of the new prosperity in
the community and opened their shops here. The New Haven City Directory of 1847-48 lists
sailmakers, tinners, wheelwrights, carpenters, blacksmiths, and grocers, all serving the
community. Large and small business blocks were built on the east and west approaches

to the bridge. Dr. Charles S. Thompson opened a drugstore in the White Store building

on the west side of the bridge. The Tood Block, a four-story masonry building, was built
in 1859 on the site of the old Rowe's tavern (the tavern was moved to the rear of the
lot). Daniel M. King purchased Heman Hotchkiss' hotel block about 1850 and opened the
Fair Haven Coffee House (still standing at 14 Grand Avenue) in a small portion of the
building. The rest was filled with a variety of small merchants and artisans. Ambrose
Todd and Horace R. Chidsey opened a grocery and feed store on Grand Avenue about 1860
(this building still stands at 89 Grand Avenue).

As the population grew in the waterfront community, so too grew the number of religious
and social institutions. In the first decades of the nineteenth century, Fair Haveners
traveled either to New Haven or East Haven to attend church services. By the 1830s,
however, several local congregations were in the formative stage. The First Congrega-
tional Church of Fair Haven was organized with fifty-six members, twenty-three from the
east shore and thirty-three from the west shore, in 1830. A Greek Reviaval-style church
was built on the schoolhouse lot donated by Nathaniel Granniss. The schoolhouse, built
on the site in the early nineteenth century, has little or no detail. By the mid-1830s
and 1840s, the simple cape was dressed in distinctive Greek Revival period details,
including a wide entablature with box cornice and return, and a trabeated surround
enframing the entry. The Zina Ball House at 228 North Front Street is a good example
of the antebellum version of this form,

The two-story, gable~fronted Greek Revival style dwelling followed the one-and-a-~half-
story cape in popularity. Built in the years 1835 to 1855, there are more examples of
this domestic housetype in the neighborhood than any other. Built on a raised or parti-
ally raised brick basement, most have functional subterranean working space with one or
more forms of egress and large window openings. The roof ridge lies perpendicular to
the street, allowing for narrower urban houselots with deep rear yards. The detail is
almost identical on this type of house. Each house has a box cornice with complete
return across the gable end, a rectilinear window in the gable, usually with Greek style
tracery, and a trabeated surround or classical portico at the entry. The five dwellings
at 58 through 72 East Pearl Street, despite severe alterations, demonstrate the order
and grace created by the repetition of the basic housetype along the block. Whether
planned or spontaneously generated, this ensemble created an ordered streetscape befit-
ting a growing community. A slight variation of the two-story, gable-fronted Greek
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Revival can be seen in the one-and-a-half-story gable-fronted dwelling that also appears
during this period. These have details similar to the two-story dwellings. However,
everything is scaled down to fit a smaller structure. Examples remain at 32 and 66
Chambers Street, 52 and 94 Exchange Street, and 200, 232, 288, and 292 North Front Street.

A third popular housetype during this period was the two-story Italianate house. Built
between 1848 and 1860, these dwellings are characterized by their box-like forms, broad,
projecting eaves, and full front porch or veranda. Although originally the Italianate
style denoted large houses of grand proportions, it was adapted in Fair Haven and else-
where to modest vernacular interpretations. Two large Italianate style houses remain at
37 East Pearl Street (c. 1852, remodelled in the Second Empire style in the 1870s) and
106 Exchange Street (1850-1851), while many more smaller ones were built; among these
were 42 and 88 East Pearl Street, 74 Houston Street, and 57 and 97 Clinton Avenue, 264
North Front Street, 315 Lenox Street, and 27 Oxford Street, A number of these reflect,
on a more modest scale, the influence of Henry Austin's designs, particularly those of
the large houses that he designed on Hillhouse Avenue. The massing, proportion and
details of several houses within the district are similar to those of the James Dwight
Dana House at 24 Hillhouse Avenue. Among these are the Samuel Hemingway House, 37 East
Pearl Street, the Willis S. Barnes House at 42 East Pearl Street, the Dan and Julia Smith
House at 59 East Pearl Street and the Elijah S. and Jane Ball House at 76 East Pearl
Street. The Lyman Woodward House, at 169 Grand Avenue, is the last surviving true subur-
ban villa in the district. Although the Woodward House was not built on the same scale
as the Dana House, it is a grand house for Fair Haven, and may well have been designed

by Austin. Grand Avenue, which was in the early nineteenth century a residential street
mainly comprised ‘of large estates, began after the Civil War to be developed commercially.
Hence, the Lyman Woodward House is a rare survival not only in the context of the section
of Grand Avenue included in the district, but of the street as a whole.

The last domestic housetype of this period is the two-and-a-half-story gable-fronted
Italianate built from 1848 to 1865. The gable—-fronted Italianates tend to be larger in
scale than their Greek Revival predecessors. They appear voluminous in scale and have
bold, heavy detail. The lateral and raking eaves project sharply over end walls, and
the window surrounds and entry porch have a modelled quality. Often these houses have
an elaborate entry porch or large veranda with carved columns. In several instances, a
three-tiered off-center Tuscan tower creates the finishing touch to this urban and
slightly exotic housetype. Several of these mid-nineteenth-century dwellings remain

at 48, 59, and 69 East Pearl Street, 19 and 27 Perkins Street, 17 Pine Street, 274, 285,
and 296 Lenox Street and 583-585 Quinnipiac Avenue. Again, many houses of this type in
the district borrow details from Henry Austin's grand designs built along Hillhouse
Avenue. Distinct comparisons can be drawn between the John P. Norton House at 52 Hill-
house Avenue (built 1848-1849 and designed by Henry Austin) and the Charles and Eunice
Perkins House at 19 Perkins Street.

Throughout much of the building history of this period, one particular carpenter-builder
appears again and again. Elbert J. Munsell built many dwellings and structures in Fair
Haven from the 1830s until his death in 1853. He can be credited with the permeation of
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the two-story gable-fronted Greek Revival housetype, as he built many of them. He also
built several houses in the Italian Villa style, including the residence at 74 Pierpont
Street and his last residence at 106 Exchange Street. Other buildings by Munsell include
the houses at 32 and 36 Pine Street, and the double house at 37-39 Grand Avenue.

The two most important individual structures built on the east bank of the river during
this period were the Second Congregational Church (1851), a late Greek Revival brick
structure, and the Saint James Episcopal Church (1844), a brownstone Gothic Revival
church which is a scaled-down version of the larger and more pretentious Trinity Church
which was built in the New Haven Green c. 1813 and designed by Ithiel Towne. The two
churches are located at 65 and 60 East Grand Avenue respectively.

On the west bank the First Congregational Church moved from its site on Grand Avenue be-
tween Perkins Street and Clinton Avenue to a new site on Grand Avenue between Atwater and
Bright Streets. The new church was a brick structure combining Italianate and Neo-classical
motifs designed by Volney Pierce, a Fair Haven resident, and built in 1853.

Annexation and Industrialization 1865-1910

In 1865, Fair Haven was a bustling, cohesive waterfront community still somewhat isolated
from the City of New Haven. By 1910, it had been transformed into a dense residential
suburb of 20,000 or more people, fully integrated into the fabric of the city.

In the years 1830 to 1860, the City of New Haven shifted dramatically from a mercantile
economy to a manufacturing one. The small carriage shops, gun shops, clock makers, and
hardware dealers were going broke or consolidating into larger, capital-intensive indus-
tries. The Wooster Square area which lay between Fair Haven and downtown became the manu-
facturing center of the city. By 1860, Wooster Square had become a dense residential and
industrial quarter. With little or no land left for development, developers turned to

the open expanses on the east side of the Mill River in Fair Haven.

During this period, residential and industrial development in Fair Haven went hand-in-hand.
Samuel R. and Charles C. Blatchley were active in the residential development of the area.
Samuel Blatchley moved to Fair Haven in 1866 and purchased a large tract south of Grand
Avenue where he laid out streets and sold houses and lots. With their own team of carpen-—
ters, they built countless dwellings in the area and they were known for constructing
"modest frame dwellings at modest prices the workingman could afford." The Blatchleys

also encouraged needed public improvements. They were instrumental in the founding of the
Westville and Fair Haven Horse Railroad Company c. 1860 and they lobbied for the building
of the Grand Avenue bridge in the same year. This bridge replaced the old 1791 bridge
which had steadily deteriorated and was considered unsafe.

The introduction of the Westville and Fair Haven Horse Railroad had a major and immediate
impact on the land values along Grand Avenue and the surrounding area. All of a sudden,
artisans, laborers, and merchants could live two or three miles from downtown and still
get to their workplaces in a short amount of time. Fair Haven became one of the city's
earliest streetcar suburbs.
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Fair Haven west of the Quinnipiac River was annexed to the city in 1871, and Fair Haven
east in 1881. Although the east bank of the river did not experience extensive industrial
development like the west bank during this period the residential development of the area
blossomed. In the northern part of the district, the Hemingway farm was further subdivided
with houses built fronting along Quinnipiac Avenue (see 890, 896, 904, 930, 965, 970, 991,
1146-48, 1162 1187, and 1212 Quinnipiac Avenue). Residential infill construction also
continued along Quinnipiac Avenue and Lenox Streets. With the rapid increase in population
came municipal and social services. Neighborhood schools were built to accomodate burgeon-
ing enrollments (none are extant from this period in the district). A new fire station

was built on East Pearl Street in 1871 by the city (demolished). Sewers, roadways and new
bridges soon followed. Churches sprang up or were enlarged to meet the needs of the
newcomers. The East Pearl Street Methodist Church built a new and larger church at 95

East Pearl Street in 1871-1873.

The oyster industry entered its most intensive stage during this period. Small scale
dealers consolidated into major oyster businesses, cultivating hundreds of acres of
oysters and employing one hundred or more people. Deep water cultivation of the oysters
in Lond Island Sound opened up thousands of acres of land for oyster farming. Henry C.
Rowe was the first to experiment in this practice in the early 1870s. Overcoming severe
natural impediments as well as political opposition, Rowe eventually succeeded in creating
one of the largest oyster operations in the world. 1In 1887, he controlled 13,868 acres

in the sound, planted 400,000 bushels of shells a year, and employed over one hundred men.
The J. E. Bishop Company, Tuttle and Wilson Company, S. Chipman and Company, Barnes and
Ludington, and Hoyt Brothers were other major deep water oyster dealers.

The architecture of this period tended to follow the building trends and methods found in
other parts of the city. The major development of this period was large-scale speculative
house building. As well as Samuel Blatchley, Thomas F. Lowe started the mass production
of simple balloon frame dwellings. Lowe built many of the houses on the west end of
Exchange Street.

The most popular housetype in this period was the two-and-a-half-story, gable-fronted
dwelling with Ttalianate or Victorian Gothic details. Built on extremely narrow houselots,
block after block of these dwellings were constructed, creating a dense urban neighborhood.
The repetition of building forms, plus the uniform setbacks and side yards create :a:
harmonious yet crowded streetscape. Exchange Street, west of Blatchley Avenue, is a
typical example of this late-nineteenth century sort of streetscape.

By the end of the nineteenth century, population pressures in the city were so extreme
that any available lot in Fair Haven on the west bank was built upon. Preference shifted
away from Italianate styles toward Victorian Gothic and Queen Anne persuasions. Bays
were added and building forms arranged to create a more interesting asymmetrical form,
contrasting with the standard gable-fronted types.

The institutional buildings of this period display the exuberance and drama of the High
Victorian era. The East Pearl Street Methodist Church built a fashionable High Victorian
Gothic Church in 1872 that was lavishly detailed with polychrome masonry and decorative
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carved woodwork. The church was designed by New York City architect John S. Welch. The
Fair Haven Union Cemetery, established in 1808 and much neglected until the Civil War,

was improved by grading and landscaping in the second half of the century. In 1885, the
High Victorian Gothic cemetery gates were erected for G. W. Granniss of San Francisco,

a descendant of the early Fair Haven Granniss family. 1In 1895, the High Victorian

Gothic design of David Bloomfield of Meriden was executed as the Soldiers Memorial Chapel,
located in the center of the cemetery. The chapel boasted several large stained-glass
windows manufactured by Tiffany & Company. The windows were designed by Edward P. Sperry,
a New Haven native and one of Tiffany's chief designers. The ceiling was painted in an
elaborate design by a professional artist, Gottfried Amman, a resident of Fair Haven who
lived not far from the cemetery on Grand Avenue. Thé furniture of the chapel was custom
built of oak by a New York firm according to the designs of D. D. Mallory of Baltimore,

a descendant of one of the early families of Fair Haven.

The First Congregational Church also undertook a major renovation, altering Pierce's
design drastically to reflect the newly fashionable Romanesque style c. 1878.

Industrial Boom 1910-1945

Water pollution from industrial growth, climatic changes and an increase in natural pre-
dators brought the demise of the oyster industry. At the same time, this period was an
era of tremendous industrial expansion for the city. These industries required great
pools of labor to satisfy their production requirements and thus attracted thousands of
foreign immigrants to the Elm City.

The Irish were the first to move into Fair Haven in the mid-nineteenth century. Attracted
by the jobs at the railroad yards at Belle Dock and Cedar Hill, they chose Fair Haven
because of its proximity to work. Italian immigrants flooded into New Haven in the early
1900s. Although many settled in Wooster Square they also lived in large numbers in Fair
Haven south of Grand Avenue.. At the same time, Polish immigrants settled in Fair Haven.
By 1930, Fair Faven's population had swelled to 23,960 and those who were foreign born

or of foreign born parentage out-numbered the original stock two to one.

City services were compelled to keep up with the dramatic growth of local neighborhoods.
One of the most important public improvements was the construction of new schools. 1In
less than twenty years, Fair Haven received four new school buildings. Within the
district the Atwater Training School was built in 1918, the Strong School in 1915 (which
replaced a building destroyed by fire on the same site) and the Fair Haven Junior High
School in 1927-28. All were designed by the local firm of Brown and Von Beren and show
their penchant for the Jacobethan Revival style. Brown and Von Beren were among the most
prolific of New Haven's early twentieth century architectural firms. They designed a wide
range of buildings, including commercial buildings and residences. Another notable
building designed by this partnership is the fire station on East Grand Avenue. The fire
station was designed in the Colonial Revival style and it boasts a slate tile gambrel roof
and a handsomely detailed Palladian window. Built in 1927, it was the last contributing
building to be constructed on East Grand Avenue. Another major public building construc-
ted during this period, c. 1916, was the Fair Haven Branch of the Public Library on Grand
Avenue.
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Many of the last building lots remaining in the Neck were developed during these boom
years. The northeast sector especially saw the development of block after block of

open land. The preferred housetype of this period was the two-and-a-half-story, gable-
fronted duplex, constructed on a narrow houselot. These duplexes, built row upon row,
with repetitive form and details, did much to preserve the residential quality of the
neighborhood. This housetype is most common along the northern ends of Clinton Avenue
and Perkins Street where the railroad track once bisected the streets south of Pine
Street. When the tracks were removed in the early twentieth century, many speculatively
built houses of this type were constructed in these areas.

The commercial center of Fair Haven, which throughout most of the nineteenth century had

been located at the east and the west ends of the bridge, now shifted westward to the
intersection of Ferry Street and Blatchley Avenue, outside the boundaries of the district.

Decline 1945-1970

The years 1945 to 1970 saw a decline in the basic ingredients that make an urban neigh-
borhood work. Many of Fair Haven's essential industries closed and its middle income
residents moved to modern suburbs, leaving a deteriorated urban infrastructure for the
city's poorest residents.

The large-scale energy intensive industries of the late nineteenth and early twentieth
centuries proved vulnerable to foreign imports, high energy costs, and labor unrest. The
New Haven Redevelopment Agency responded to local problems with the Fair Haven Urban
Renewal Plan of 1968. The plan called for twenty million dollars in public improvements
including development of a waterfront park along South Front Street, the construction of
a replacement bridge across the Quinnipiac River, and the construction of 400 units of
subsidized housing. In a later reversal, the decision was made to rebuild the old bridge.

Revitalization 1970-1982

The years 1970-1982 have seen a change in revitalization efforts in the neighborhood,
aided by the creation of a local historic district in 1978 covering both sides of the
Quinnipiac River. Although houses were demolished along South Front Street in the mid-
1970s for the proposed water front park, those on North Front and East Pearl Streets have
been undergoing renovation. On the east bank of the river major losses include the
Phoenix Block, as well as some commercial buildings along the south side of Grand Avenue
as a part of the plan for replacing the Grand Avenue Bridge. In the last decade, efforts
to revitalize housing in the original oyster village have dramatically increased.
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1. New Haven Land Records, Vol. 46, p. 246.

2. On September 25, 1793, Nathaniel Yale advertised the following house for sale:
"A one story dwelling-house, gambrel roof, situated in the Great Neck (so-called) about
two miles from the court-house in iWew Haven, and not far distant from the New Bridge;
there are two large rooms on the lower floor, and two chambers; also an underground
room suitable for opening oysters...,' Doris B. Townshend: Fair Haven, A Journey
Through Time (New Haven: New Haven Colony Historical Society, 1976), p. 16.

3. Doris B. Townshend, Fair Haven, A Journey Through Time (New Haven, New Haven
Colony Historical Society, 1976), p. 68.

4. Edward E. Atwater, History of the City of New Haven, Connecticut (New Haven, 1887),
p. 615.

5. Townshend, p. 49.

6. Atwater, p. 620.



NPS Form 10.900-a OMB No. 1024-0018
(3-82) Exp. 10-31-84

United States Department of the Interior

National Park Service

National Register of Historic Places
Inventory—Nomination Form

Quinnipiac River Historic District
ew, . Haven, .Connecticut
HtinGation’sheet ltem number 9 Page 1

e

Atwater, Edward E.: History of the City of New Haven, Connecticut (New Haven, 1887).

Fair Haven Union Cemetery Association (Fair Haven Union Cemetery Association, 1894 and
1897). Available at the New Haven Colony Historical Society.

New Haven Land Records, New Haven Town Clerk's Office, 200 Orange Street, New Haven.

Townshend, Doris B.: Fair Haven, A Journey Through Time (New Haven, New Haven Colony
Historical Soceity, 1976).
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Zone 18
Easting Northing

A 677850 4575760
B 677830 . 4575690
C 678000 4575400
D 677800 4575240
E 677720 4575240
F 677710 4575220
G 677760 4575000
H 677760 4574980
I 677600 4575000
J 677520 4574860
K 677580 4574820
L 677560 4574780
M 677510 4574810
N 677270 4574310
0 676860 4574500
P 676710 4574480
Q 676710 4574520
R 676700 4574520
S 676660 4574840
T 676690 4574810
U 676690 4574860
v 676760 4574880
W 676700 4575360
X 676810 4575380
Y 676830 4575240
Z 676960 4575260
AA 676920 4575580
BB 676980 4575580
CcC 677000 4575500
DD 677280 4575540
EE ' 677300 4575760

FF 677700 4575960
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Boundary Justification

The southern boundary of the district is quite clear cut; the block bounded by Houston,
Chapel and Ferry Streets consists of a vacant and deteriorating mid-twentieth century

gas station and an undistinguished 1920s commercial building. Thus, the boundary ex-
cludes this block while including the mixed early-to-late nineteenth century residential
area of Houston Street to the north of Chapel Street. The north side of Chapel Street
includes three mid-nineteenth century houses and the boundary here is defined by the
boundary of the Quinnipiac Brewery on the .south side.of Chapel Street, already nominated
to the National Register. At the corner of Chapel and East Pearl Streets the boundary
follows a newly-cut road leading to South Front Street. The vacant land south of the
boundary and the remainder of the Quinnipiac Brewery property is excluded from the
district. The boundary then crosses the Quinnipiac River to the east bank, excluding the
modern industrial uses of the west side of Quinnipiac Avenue to the south of 470
Quinnipiac Avenue and including several early houses along Quinnipiac Avenue that have
water frontage. On the east side of Quinnipiac Avenue the boundary is drawn south of

467 Quinnipiac Avenue, to include the latter, the oldest house on the block. South of
the boundary the houses are of newer construction and there are several large vacant
lots. The boundary is then drawn to include a large cinder block garage which fronts

on Oxford Street, and to include the earliest houses fronting on both sides of Lenox
Street. The houses south of 152 and 135 Lenox Street are of newer construction and do
not contribute to the significance of the district. The same factor excludes the bulk

of the houses on Lexington Avenue, the next north-south street parallel to Lenox Sirect.
Thus, the boundary follows the rear property lines of the houses fronting on the east
side of Lenox Street to Grand Avenue. The block bounded by Grand Avenue, Lenox Street,
Hulse Street, and Lexington Avenue is excluded because it is vacant except for a small,
much altered and deteriorated turn-of-the-century structure on the southwest cormer. The
boundaries are drawn along Grand Avenue to include an Italianate house on the south side
of Grand Avenue and the significant early twentieth-century Colonial Revival fire station
on the southeast corner of Grand Avenue and Lenox Street. Also highly significant is

the Second Congregational Church on the southwest corner. The boundary then extends
north along the west side of Lenox Street to the corner of Hulse, and then north along
the rear property lines of the residences fronting along the east side of Lenox Street.
This boundary excludes many of the residences constructed after the period of signifi-
cance of district as well as several glaringly intrusive modern houses. The boundary
then turns east along the northern side of Clifton Street and extends to 84 and 90 Clifton
Street, both houses built c. 1850 by the Rowe family, early and prominent citizens of
Fair Haven and owners of a large farm on the east bank of the river of which this
property formed a part. The boundary then runs north along the rear property lines of-
the houses fronting on the east side of Lexington Avneue, including three houses built
prior to 1850. The boundary then follows the rear property lines of the buildings
fronting on the east side of Quinnipiac Avenue, excluding the Quinnipiac School, built
in 1964 overlooking Quinnipiac Avenue. The boundary then continues along the rear property
lines of the houses fronting on the east side of Quinnipiac Avenue to and including 889
Quinnipiac Avenue. At this point the boundary follows the eastern line of Quinnipiac
Avenue excluding a quantity of vacant land and several houses of recent construction
near the corner of Hemingway Street. The boundary then follows the northern line of
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Hemingway Street in order to include the large and handsomely detailed carriage barn at
the rear of 968 Quinnipiac Avenue. The boundary then follows the rear property lines

of the houses fronting on the east side of Quinnipiac Avenue to and including 991
Quinnipiac Avenue. The four undistinguished 1930s speculatively built houses north of
991 Quinnipiac Avenue are excluded from the district. The boundary then follows the
western line of Quinnipiac Avenue to and including the Greek Revival house at 1010
Quinnipiac Avenue and continues west across the bottom lands along Hemingway Creek and
the Quinnipiac River. These undeveloped bottom lands have historically been a part of
the district's maritime environment and were originally a part of the large Hemingway
farm on the east bank of the river which included much of the northeast part of the
district. The boundary crosses to the west bank of the river and includes 334 North
Front Street, the last early house on the northern end of the street. Property along
Chathem Street is excluded because it is of much later construction. The boundary of the
district then follows the rear property lines of the buildings facing on the west side
of North Front Street, including several significant early nineteenth century houses on
the west side of the street. The houses fronting on Maltby and Chatham Streets are of
later construction and representative of a later period of development than the period
of greatest significance of the district. The boundary then runs west along the northern
property lines of the buildings fronting on the north side of Pine Street, including
several early nineteenth-~century houses as well as some late nineteenth-century houses.
The houses fronting on Maltby Street, Grafton Street, and most of the east side of
Clinton Avenue are excluded because they were built in the late nineteenth and early
twentieth centuries, after the period of greatest significance of the district. Those
properties included on the west side of Clinton Avenue are interspersed with early
nineteenty-century houses. The boundary then follows a southern line along the rear
property lines of the properties fronting on the west side of Clinton Avenue, including
the significant late nineteenth-century Friendless Home, a rare surviving example in a
New Haven residential neighborhood of an intact charitable institution for indigent ‘
elderly women. Excluded from the district is the northern end of Atwater Street which
was developed in the early twentieth century after the old Shoreline Railroad tracks
were removed from the area. The boundary extends north to Pine Street and west to
Bright Street to include the Fair Haven Union Cemetery. Established in 1808, it
combines early nineteenth-century funeary monuments with later monuments in a homogenous
mixture landscaped with mature trees. Of particular significance are the High Victorian
Gothic gates and memorial chapel and the monument of Heman Hotchkiss, said to be the
founder of Fair Haven. The boundary then extends to Grand Avenue, including the
Congregational Church (1853; remodelled c. 1878) and the Lyman Woodward House, the last
remaining suburban villa on Grand Avenue. On the south side of Grand Avenue the Fair
Haven Free Public Library and the Fair Haven Junior High School, both dating from the
1910s, are included because they represent the continuing evolution of the community and
are two of the chief public institutions in Fair Haven. The boundary then continues
south to include the early residential areas along Exchange, Pierpont, Chambers and
Ferry Streets, which contain many houses built between 1830 and 1870.
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SOUTH: Beginning at the southwest property line of 187 Ferry Street: east to the eastern
kine of Houston Street; cornering and running south along the eastern line of Houston
Street to the northeast corner of Houston and Chapel Street, cornering and running east
along the northern line of Chapel Street, crossing East Pearl Street and following the
northern line of the newly=-cut extension of Chapel Street which joins South Front Street
and Chapel Street, crossing South Front Street, and running southeast in a direct line
across the Quinnipiac River to the southwest corner of 470 Quinnipiac Avenue, running
east along the southern boundary of 470 Quinnipiac Avenue, cornering and running south
with the eastern line of Quinnipiac Avenue to a point directly opposite the southwest
corner of 467 Quinnipiac Avenue, cornering and crossing Quinnipiac Avenue to the east
side of the street, running east following the southern boundary of 467 Quinnipiac Avenue,
cornering and running north along the eastern boundary of 467 Quinnipiac Avenue to the
southeast corner of 15 Oxford Street, cornering and running east along the southern
boundary of 15 Oxford Street, cornering and running north along the eastern boundary of

15 Oxford Street to the southwest corner of 152 Lenox Street, cornering and running east
along the southern boundary of 152 Lenox Street, running east across Lenox Street and
cornering and running south along the eastern side of Lenox Street to the southwest corner
of 135 Lenox Street, cornering and running east along the southern boundary of 135 Lenox
Street.

EAST: From the southeast corner of 135 Lenox Street running north along the rear (eastern)
property lines of 135=71 Lenox Street to Oxford Street, running north and crossing Oxford
Street, cornering and running east with the northern boundary of Oxford Street to the rear
property line of 179 Lenox Street, cornering and running north along the rear property
lines of Lenox Street to Aner Street, crossing Aner Street and running north along the
rear property lines of Lenox Street to Grand Avenue, cornering and running west along the
southern line of East Grand Avenue to Lenox Street, running west across Lenox Street to
the northwest corner of 65 East Grand Avenue, cornering and running north across East
Grand Avenue and continuing north along the western line of Lenox to a point opposite the
southwest corner of 355 Lenox Street, cornering and running east across Lenox Street and
continuing east along the southern boundary of 355 Lenox Street, cornering and running
north along the rear (east) property lines of Lenox Street to Clifton Street, continuing
to run north across Clifton Street, cornering and running east along the northern boundary
of Clifton Street, crossing Lexington Avenue, and continuing east along northern boundary
of Clifton Street to the southeast corner of 90 Clifton Street, cornering and running
north along the eastern boundary of 90 Clifton Street, cornering and running west along
the northern boundary of 90 Clifton Street to the rear (east) property lines of Lexington
Avenue, running north along the eastern property lines of Lexington Avenue, cornering and
running west along the northern property line of 433 Lexington Avenue, continuing west
across Lexington Avenue to the western line of Lexington Avenue, cornering and running
north along the eastern boundary of 442 Lexington Avenue, cornering and running west along
the northern boundary of U442 Lexington Avenue to the rear (east) property line of 773
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Quinnipiac Avenue, cornering and running north along the rear (east) property lines of
Quinnipiac Avenue to the northeast corner of 797 Quinnipiac Avenue, cornering and running
west along the northern boundary of 797 Quinnipiac Avenue to the eastern line of Quinnipiac
Avenue, cornering and running north with the eastern line of Quinnipiac Avenue to the
southwest corner of 825 Quinnipiac Avenue, cornering and running east along the southern
line of 825 Quinnipiac Avenue, cornering and running north along the western line of Runo
Terrace, contihuing north across Runo Terrace, cornering and running east with the north-
ern line of Runo Terrace to the rear (east) property lines of Quinnipiac Avenue, cornering
and running north with the rear (east) property lines of Quinnipiac Avenue to the northeast
corner of 889 Quinnipiac Avenue, cornering and running west along the northern line of 889
Quinnipiac Avenue to the eastern line of Quinnipiac Avenue, cornering and running north
along the eastern line of Quinnipiac Avenue to the Jjunction of Hemingway Street, cornering
and running northwest across Hemingway Street to the northern line of Hemingway Street,
cornering and running east along the northern line of Hemingway Street to the southeastern
corner of 979 Quinnipiac Avenue, cornering and running north along the rear (east) property
lines of Quinnipiac Avenue to the northeast corner of 991 Quinnipiac Avenue.

NORTH: From the northeast corner of 991 Quinnipiac Avenue running west to the eastern line
of Quinnipiac Avenue, continuing west across Quinnipiac Avenue, cornering and running north
along the western line of Quinnipiac Avenue to the northeast corner of 1010 Quinnipiac
Avenue, cornering and running west along the northern boundary of 1010 Quinnipiac Avenue
and continuing west on an extended line from the northern boundary of 1010 Quinnipiac
Avenue, across Hemingway Creek and the bottom lands along the Quinnipiac River to the west
bank of the Quinnipiac River, continuing west across the Quinnipiac River to a point on

the east bank of river on an extended line from the northeast corner of 334 North Front
Street, continuing west to the northwest corner of 334 North Front Street, cornering and
running south along the western boundary of' 334 North Front Street, continuing south across
Chatham Street to the south line of Chatham Street, cornering and running west along the
south line of Chatham Street to the northwest corner of 332 North Front Street, cornering
and running south along the rear (west) property lines of North Front Street to the north-
east corner of 7 Pine Street, cornering and running west along the rear (north) property
lines of Pine Street, continuing west across Clinton Avenue to the west side of Clinton
Avenue, cornering and running north with the west side of Clinton Avenue to the northeast
corner of 164 Clinton Avenue, cornering and running west along the northern boundary of

164 Clinton Avenue to the rear (west) property lines of Clinton Avenue, cornering and run-
ning south along the rear (west) property lines of Clinton Avenue to the northern line of
Pine Street, continuing south across Pine Street, cornering and running west along the
southern line of Pine Street to the northwest corner of 118 Clinton Avenue, cornering and
running west along the rear property lines of Clinton Avenue to the northeast corner of

49 Atwater Street, cornering and running west along the northern boundary of 49 Atwater
Street, cornering and running north along the east side of Atwater Street to a point oppo-
site the northeast corner of 56 Atwater Street, cornering and running west across Atwater
Street to the northeast corner of 56 Atwater Street, continuing west along the northern
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boundary of 56 Atwater Street to the northwest corner, cornering and running north along
the rear (west) property lines of Atwater Street to Pine Street, cornering and running
west along the northern boundary of Pine Street to the southeast corner of Pine and Bright
Streets. .

WEST: From the southeast corner of Pine and Bright Streets running south along the east-
ern line of Bright Street to the southwest corner of 149 Grand Avenue, cornering and run-
ning east to the northwest corner of 169 Grand Avenue, cornering and running south along
western boundary of 169 Grand Avenue to the northern line of Grand Avenue, continuing

south across Grand Avenue, cornering and running west along the southern line of Grand
Avenue to the northwest corner of 182 Grand Avenue, cornering and running south along the
western boundary of 182 Grand Avenue to the northern boundary of 131 Exchange Street, corn-
ering and running west along the rear (north) property lines of 131-137 Exchange Street

to the northwest corner of 137 Exchange Street, cornering and running south along the
western boundary of 137 Exchange Street to the northern line of Exchange Street, continuing
south across Exchange Street, cornering and running west with the southern line of Exchange
Street to the northwest corner of 152 Exchange Street, cornering and running south with

the western boundary of 152 Exchange Street to the rear (north) property lines of Pierpont
Street cornering and running west to the northwest corner of 85 Pierpont Street, cornering
and running south along the western line of 85 Pierpont Street to the northern line of
Pierpont Street, continuing south across Pierpont Street to the northern boundary of 253
Ferry Street, cornering and running west to the southeast corner of Ferry and Pierpont
streets, cornering and running south with the eastern line of Ferry Street to the point

of beginning.
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